
 CITY OF HAYS COMMISSION MEETING 
THURSDAY, DECEMBER 12, 2013 – 6:30 P.M.  

AGENDA 
 
 

1. Call to order by Chairperson.   
 

2. MINUTES: Consider approval of the minutes from the regular meeting held on           
November 26, 2013. (PAGE 1) 

 
3. CITIZEN COMMENTS:  (non-agenda items). 

 
4. CONSENT AGENDA:  (Items to be approved by the Commission in one motion, unless 

objections are raised).   
 

A. Cereal Malt Beverage License Applications: Consider approving various Cereal Malt 
Beverage License renewals for 2014. (PAGE 7) 
 

B. Mayoral Appointment Recommendations: Sister Cities Advisory Board (PAGE 9) 

 
UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

(No business to review) 
 

NEW BUSINESS 
 

5. HAYS RECREATION COMMISSION POOL REIMBURSEMENT FOR 2013: Consider 
approving the reimbursement request from the Hays Recreation Commission for one-half 
of the total loss for pool operations for the 2013 season to be paid from the Swimming 
Pool budget for 2013. (PAGE 13) 
 

6. CONCEALED CARRY IN MUNICIPAL BUILDINGS: Consider approving Resolution No. 
2013-024 to allow for a four-year exemption from the requirements of House Bill 2052 for 
City-owned buildings. (PAGE 29) 
 

7. 41ST STREET CONSTRUCTION – AWARD OF BID AND CONSTRUCTION 
ENGINEERING AGREEMENT: Consider authorizing the Mayor to sign the resolution 
from KDOT authorizing the commitment of City funds awarding a contract to APAC-
Kansas, Inc. for the reconstruction of 41st Street, and to sign the three-party agreement 
with KDOT and Alfred Benesch & Company for Construction Engineering Inspection for 
the reconstruction of 41st Street. (PAGE 71) 
 

8. 2014 STATEMENT OF LEGISLATIVE PRIORITIES: Consider approving the 2014 
Statement of Legislative Priorities for the City of Hays. (PAGE 113) 
 

9. ADDENDUM TO THE MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT WITH THE HAYS 
FIREFIGHTERS LOCAL 2119 FOR 2014: Consider approving the Addendum to the 
Memorandum of Agreement between the City of Hays and the Hays Firefighters Local 
2119 for 2014. (PAGE 119) 
 



10. REPORT OF THE CITY MANAGER (PAGE 123) 
 

11. COMMISSION INQUIRIES AND COMMENTS   
 

12. EXECUTIVE SESSION (IF REQUIRED) 
 

13. ADJOURNMENT 
 
 
ANY PERSON WITH A DISABILITY NEEDING SPECIAL ACCOMMODATIONS TO ATTEND THIS MEETING 
SHOULD CONTACT THE CITY MANAGER'S OFFICE 48 HOURS PRIOR TO THE SCHEDULED MEETING 
TIME.  EVERY ATTEMPT WILL BE MADE TO ACCOMMODATE ANY REQUESTS FOR ASSISTANCE. 



 

MINUTES OF A MEETING  

OF THE GOVERNING BODY OF 

THE CITY OF HAYS, KANSAS 

HELD ON NOVEMBER 26, 2013 

 

1.  CALL TO ORDER BY CHAIRMAN:  The Governing Body of the City of Hays, 

Kansas met in regular session on Tuesday, November 26, 2013 at 6:30 p.m. 

  Roll Call:  Present:   Kent Steward 

     Eber Phelps  

     Shaun Musil 

     Ron Mellick 

           Absent:  Henry Schwaller IV 

 Chairperson Steward declared that a quorum was present and called the 

meeting to order. 

2.  MINUTES:  There were no corrections or additions to the minutes of the 

regular session held on November 14, 2013; the minutes stand approved as 

presented. 

3.  FINANCIAL STATEMENT:  Finance Director Kim Rupp reported month-to-

date general fund sales tax collections were at $650,165 which is just $1,826 or 

.28% ahead as compared to last year. The year-to-date general fund sales tax 

collections are up $34,661 or .57%. The six month running average on general 

fund sales tax collections is up slightly at .52%. 

The Finance/City Clerk’s Office invested $4,200,000 of maturing or 

renewing certificates with a weighted average interest rate of .18%. The portfolio 

of certificates of deposit on October 31, 2013 totaled $53,000,000 with a 

weighted average interest rate of .23%. The total balance of the Money Market 

account on October 31, 2013 was $800,000 with a current yield of .20%. Total 

investments are up $4,750,000 when compared to this time last year.  

Ron Mellick moved, Eber Phelps seconded, that the Financial Statement 

for the month of October, 2013 be approved. 

1



  Vote:  Ayes: Kent Steward  

    Eber Phelps 

    Shaun Musil 

    Ron Mellick 

4.  CITIZEN COMMENTS:  There were no comments. 

5.  CONSENT AGENDA:  Eber Phelps moved, Shaun Musil seconded, that the 

following Consent Agenda item be approved: 

Business Resolution AR-02, Series 2013, being a resolution expressing 

appreciation to Abbey Gonzalez who assumed ownership of the previous Roxie’s 

Hair Designs & Tanning Salon, 705 Fort Street, now Lulu’s Hair & Tanning Salon.  

Vote:  Ayes: Kent Steward  

    Eber Phelps 

    Shaun Musil 

    Ron Mellick 

 

 

NEW BUSINESS 

 

 

 

6.  GOLDEN BELT ESTATES 5TH ADDITION ENGINEERING SERVICES 

AGREEMENT (DANBY LANE AND JAGGER COURT):  Western Plains Service 

Corporation has petitioned the City for street, storm sewer, water, and sanitary 

sewer improvements to an area containing 34 lots within Blocks 1 and 2 of the 

Golden Belt Estates 5th Addition.  Ruder Engineering and Surveying, L.L.C. has 

now prepared a contract for engineering services to include engineering design, 

contractor solicitation, construction engineering, and warranty inspection. The 

contract is for a not to exceed amount of $49,400.  

Eber Phelps moved, Shaun Musil seconded, to approve the Engineering 

Services Agreement with Ruder Engineering & Surveying, LLC for an amount not 

2



to exceed $49,400 for the development of Blocks 1 and 2, Golden Belt Estates 

5th Addition. 

Vote:  Ayes: Kent Steward  

    Eber Phelps 

    Shaun Musil 

    Ron Mellick 

7.  PUBLIC WORKS BUILDING REMODEL – AWARD OF BID:  Bids have 

been received for the remodel of the Public Works building. The low bid is from 

Paul-Wertenberger Construction, Inc. in the amount of $58,800. The work 

included in this bid, is for Phase II of the remodeling of the Public Works building, 

which is key to meeting the long term operational goals of both the Public Works 

and Utilities Departments. Phase I was completed in-house earlier this year. 

 Shaun Musil moved, Ron Mellick seconded, to accept the bid from Paul-

Wertenberger Construction Inc. in the amount of $58,800 to be funded in equal 

proportions from Public Works General Administration, Stormwater, and Water 

Conservation Funds. 

Vote:  Ayes: Kent Steward  

    Eber Phelps 

    Shaun Musil 

    Ron Mellick 

8.  REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS (RFP) FOR HAYS REGIONAL AIRPORT 

ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT:  The Hays Regional Airport’s commercial 

service is subsidized under the US Department of Transportation Essential Air 

Service (EAS) Program and currently provided by Great Lakes Airlines consisting 

of 32 flights per week to and from Denver utilizing a 19 passenger Beach 1900 

Turboprop aircraft.  EAS contracts are for a two year period and the next round of 

EAS bids for Hays are due December 2, 2013.  The City of Hays anticipates bids 

that may involve turbojet aircraft (regional jet service), which would trigger the 

need for an environmental assessment for first time jet service.  Therefore, staff 

solicited proposals from firms specializing in environmental assessments of this 

3



type and four proposals were received.  The low bid came from Jviation, Denver, 

Colorado and Overland Park, Kansas with a bid of $29,000. 

Eber Phelps moved, Ron Mellick seconded, that the City Manager be 

authorized to enter an agreement with Jviation to perform an environment 

assessment for first time scheduled jet service in the amount of $29,000 to be 

funded from City Commission Financial Policy Projects Fund. 

Vote:  Ayes:  Kent Steward  

    Eber Phelps 

    Shaun Musil 

    Ron Mellick 

9.  CITY EMPLOYEE HEALTH INSURANCE FOR 2014: 

The City of Hays received Blue Cross Blue Shield (BCBS) of Kansas’ 

renewal rates for 2014. The renewal includes an increase of 23%.  The increased 

premiums are the result of higher claims in 2012 and 2013.  The City went out for 

bids and Coventry Health Care came back with a fully-insured plan comparable 

to our current Traditional Plan at a .77% decrease from 2013 rates. Staff 

recommends Coventry Health Care as the 2014 provider offering a single option 

fully-insured plan comparable to our current Traditional Plan. 

Ron Mellick moved, Shaun Musil seconded, to authorize the City Manager 

to sign the 2014 Coventry Health Care Plan contract in the estimated premium 

amount of $1,567,000 to provide health insurance for City of Hays employees 

paid for out of the Employee Benefit Levy Fund. 

Vote:  Ayes: Kent Steward  

    Eber Phelps 

    Shaun Musil 

    Ron Mellick 

10.  SHORT-TERM DISABILITY INSURANCE FOR 2014:  The City has 

provided Short-Term Disability insurance to all full-time City employees since 

2006. This is paid in full by the City of Hays. Each year the City, through 

Freedom Claims, goes out for bids to find the most competitive rate possible. 

This year the City received four bids. The lowest bid is Aetna at $0.333/$10, an 

4



estimated annual cost of $43,655. This price is only valid if the City approves 

Coventry Health Care as the City’s health insurance provider for 2014 as this is a 

packaged price. The rate is guaranteed for two years.  

Shaun Musil moved, Eber Phelps seconded, to authorize the City 

Manager to complete an application applying for Short-Term Disability insurance 

with Aetna with the estimated premium amount of $43,655 paid for out of the 

Employee Benefit Levy Fund. 

Vote:  Ayes: Kent Steward  

    Eber Phelps 

    Shaun Musil 

    Ron Mellick 

11.  PROGRESS REPORT:  Assistant Director of Public Works John Braun 

reported a recent award of excellence received at the Hays Regional Airport - 

Part 139 Certification. 

 Assistant City Manager Paul Briseno reported on various city related 

events, activities and projects. 

12.  REPORT OF THE CITY MANAGER:  The City Manager had no additional 

items to report. 

13.  COMMISSION INQUIRIES AND COMMENTS:  Commissioner Mellick 

observed a water line break on Vine Street and thanked the Utilities workers for 

their hard work. He also wished everyone a happy and safe Thanksgiving. 

 Commissioner Musil wished everyone happy Thanksgiving and safe 

travels. 

 Commissioner Phelps mentioned he was recently elected to the Economic 

Development Committee and the Ellis County Extension Board. 

14.  EXECUTIVE SESSION:  Ron Mellick moved, Eber Phelps seconded, that 

the Governing Body recess to executive session at 7:20 p.m. for five minutes to 

discuss attorney-client privileged communications.  The executive session 

included the City Commissioners, the City Manager, the Assistant City Manager, 

and the City Attorney.  K.S.A. 75-4319 authorizes the use of executive session to 

discuss the topics stated in the motion. 

5



Vote:  Ayes: Kent Steward  

    Eber Phelps 

    Shaun Musil 

     Ron Mellick 

 No action was taken during executive session. 

 

 The meeting adjourned at 7:25 p.m. 

 

 Submitted by: ______________________________________________ 

     Brenda Kitchen – City Clerk 

 

 

6



CITY OF HAYS 
AGENDA ITEM COVER SHEET 

 
 

             COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM NO. 4A    MEETING DATE: 12-12-13 
 
 
 
TOPIC:  
 
Cereal Malt Beverage License Applications 
 
ACTION REQUESTED: 
 
Approve the Cereal Malt Beverage License Renewals for 2014. 
 
NARRATIVE: 
 
Per Charter Ordinance No. 10, it is required for any person selling cereal malt beverages at 
retail in the City of Hays to secure a license for each place of business. 
 
Attached is a list of businesses requesting renewal of their CMB licenses for 2014.  All have 
met the required criteria for renewal. 
 
PERSON/STAFF MEMBER(S) MAKING PRESENTATION:  
 
Toby Dougherty, City Manager 
Kim Rupp, Director of Finance 
 
ADMINISTRATION RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Approve the Cereal Malt Beverage License Renewals for 2014. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION(S): 
 
n/a 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Cereal Malt Beverage License Renewals List 

 
 
 

 

7



8



CITY OF HAYS 
AGENDA ITEM COVER SHEET 

 
             COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM NO. 4B  MEETING DATE: 12-12-13 
 

 
 
TOPIC:  
 
Mayoral Appointment Recommendations   
 
ACTION REQUESTED: 
 
Receive Mayor Steward’s proposed appointments to the Sister Cities Advisory Board. 
 
NARRATIVE: 
 
The following proposed appointments will be presented for approval at the December 26, 2013 City 
Commission meeting. 
 
Sister Cities Advisory Board 
 
Dawne Leiker – unexpired term to expire 1-1-16 (1st term) 
Patricia Levy – 3-year term to expire 1-1-17 (1st term) 
 
PERSON/STAFF MEMBER(S) MAKING PRESENTATION:  
 
Mayor Steward 
 
ADMINISTRATION RECOMMENDATION: 
 
N/A 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION(S): 
 
N/A 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Applications Received for this Board 

 

9



CITY OF HAYS 
APPLICATION FOR SERVING ON A CITY BOARD OR COMMITTEE 

 
 
Email: dpleiker@yahoo.com  
 
Date: 11/27/2013  
 
Name: Dawne Leiker  
 
Address: 1501 Marjorie Dr.  
 
Day Time Phone Number: 785-639-3981  
 
Evening Phone Number: same  
 
Place of Employment: Fort Hays State University  
 
How long have you been a Resident of Hays: Attended FHSU as an undergraduate, 
then returned to live here 23 years ago.  
 
Name of Board(s) you are interested in serving on: Sister Cities Committee  
 
How much time could you devote per month: 10-15 hours  
 
Are you related to anyone who is currently serving on a Board/Committee?: No  
 
If Yes, Explain:  
 
Briefly describe why you are interested in serving on a Board/Committee for the City of 
Hays: I understand the Sister Cities Committee is working to re-evaluate and perhaps 
redefine its role as a city of Hays committee. I welcome the opportunity to contribute to 
the process in whatever way I can.  
 
Please list any groups or activities that you participate in, or have previously participated 
in, that demonstrates your involvement in the community: I'm a member of Soroptimists 
International, serving on the public relations committee for the organization. I have 
helped coordinate the Women's Leadership Conference and Ben Franklin Papers 
events, hosted by FHSU's Center for Civic Leadership. As a member of First 
Presbyterian Church, I've served on the congregational life committee and participated 
in the choir.  
 

10



CITY OF HAYS 
APPLICATION FOR SERVING ON A CITY BOARD OR COMMITTEE 

 
 
Email: plevy@fhsu.edu  
 
Date: 12/8/2013  
 
Name: Patricia Levy  
 
Address: 205 W. 21st St.  
 
Day Time Phone Number: 785-656-4018  
 
Evening Phone Number: 785-628-8318  
 
Place of Employment: Fort Hays State University  
 
How long have you been a Resident of Hays: 11 and a half years  
 
Name of Board(s) you are interested in serving on: Sister Cities  
 
How much time could you devote per month: once a week - two hour meeting  
 
Are you related to anyone who is currently serving on a Board/Committee?: No  
 
If Yes, Explain:  
 
Briefly describe why you are interested in serving on a Board/Committee for the City of Hays: I 
was approached by another board member due to my personal and professional social work 
background with cultural diversity with minority students and with mentoring international 
students at FHSU. I also have an international background myself from having lived in Israel for 
many years.  
 
Please list any groups or activities that you participate in, or have previously participated in, that 
demonstrates your involvement in the community: FHSU Diversity Awareness Committee 
FHSU Internationalization Committee Host Family for about 5 years through FHSU Sabbatical 
teaching and research at a historically black college (Southern University at New Orleans)with 
minority students An FHSU summer research grant to Israel in a senior day center. Presentations 
in Japan, Israel, and Greece and international publications in Australia, England, and Greece. 
Teach classes with diversity content including a general education class on Multiculturalism 
(Diversity in the U.S.) that Saudi and Chinese students have attended. Professionally also 
volunteered to counsel international students at the Kelly Center at FHSU  
 

11



 

12



    

CITY OF HAYS 
AGENDA ITEM COVER SHEET 

 
 

                  COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM NO. 5               MEETING DATE: 12-12-13 
 
 

 
TOPIC: 
 
Hays Recreation Commission Pool Reimbursement for 2013 
 
ACTION REQUESTED: 
 
City Staff recommends approval to proceed with the pool reimbursement request for an amount 
of $20,451.72 with funding from the 2013 Pool Budget Other Contractual Services Line Item. 
 
NARRATIVE: 
 
A reimbursement has been requested by the Hays Recreation Commission for an amount of 
$20,451.72 which is one-half of the total loss for pool operations ($40,903.43) for the 2013 
season. The current contract states that “After financial reports are compiled as described in the 
agreement, any operating loss or surplus incurred by the contractor will be shared on a 50% City-
50% Contractor basis as long as the Contractors portion of the loss does not exceed $26,000”. 
The attendance at the Hays Aquatic Park was down significantly do to weather conditions in 2013 
with 46,270 patrons visiting the pool when compared to 58,999 in 2012. 
 
PERSON/STAFF MEMBER(S) MAKING PRESENTATION: 
 
Toby Dougherty, City Manager 
Jeff Boyle, Director of Parks 
 
ADMINISTRATION RECOMMENDATION: 
 
As Director of Parks, I recommend approval to proceed with the pool reimbursement request for 
an amount of $20,451.72 with funding from the 2013 Pool Budget Other Contractual Services 
Line Item. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION(S): 
 
N/A 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 

 Staff Memo 
 Copy of the November 15, 2013 letter to Toby Dougherty, City Manager, from Roger 

Bixenman, HRC Superintendent discussing the 2013 Pool Season. 
 Summary of Pool Operations – 2013 Pool Season 
 Summary of Pool Subsidy (2000-2013)  
 Copy of the Pool Services Agreement 

13



Commission Work Session Agenda  
Memo 

 
From:  Jeff Boyle, Director of Parks 
 
Work Session: December 5, 2013 
 
Subject: City of Hays/Hays Recreation Commission Joint Meeting 
 
Person(s)  Roger Bixenman, HRC Superintendent  
Responsible: Jeff Boyle, Director of Parks 
 
 

Summary 
A joint meeting between the City of Hays and the Hays Recreation Commission (HRC) is 
scheduled for December 5, 2013.  Items for discussion include:  
 

1) Review the 2013 Pool Season Financial Report from the Hays Recreation 
Commission. City Staff recommends approval to proceed with the pool 
reimbursement request for an amount of $20,451.72 with funding from the 2013 
Pool Budget Other Contractual Services Line Item. 

2) Review current fees from other Aquatic Parks in Kansas. HRC Staff and City 
Staff recommend approval to increase the daily admission fees at the Hays 
Aquatic Park from $3.00 to $4.00 for 3-year olds and above for the 2014 swim 
season.    

3) Review the 2013 Bickle-Schmidt Sports Complex Financial report from the Hays 
Recreation Commission.  

 

Background 
The City of Hays contracts with the Hays Recreation Commission (HRC) to manage area 
pools and for all scheduling needs of the various recreational areas in Hays such as ball 
fields, soccer fields and the new Bickle-Schmidt Sports Complex. Each year the HRC 
and the City of Hays conduct a joint meeting to discuss general operations and/or any 
other facility needs or expectations that may need to be addressed. 
  

Discussion 
There are several items for discussion for the December 5, 2013, HRC/City of Hays Joint 
meeting.  
 

1) Review the 2013 Pool Season Financial Report from the Hays Recreation 
Commission. Consider approving the reimbursement request from the Hays 

14



Recreation Commission for an amount of $20,451.72 which is one-half of the 
total loss for pool operations ($40,903.43) for the 2013 season. The current 
contract states that “After financial reports are compiled as described in the 
agreement, any operating loss or surplus incurred by the contractor will be shared 
on a 50% City-50% Contractor basis as long as the Contractors portion of the loss 
does not exceed $26,000”. The attendance at the Hays Aquatic Park was down 
significantly do to weather conditions in 2013 with 46,270 patrons visiting the 
pool when compared to 58,999 in 2012. Likewise, the attendance at Wilson Pool 
dropped from 5,085 patrons in 2012 to 3,740 in 2013.  

 
2) Review current fees from other Aquatic Parks in Kansas and consider approving 

HRC Staff and City Staff’s recommendation to increase the daily admission fees 
at the Hays Aquatic Park from $3.00 to $4.00 for 3-year olds and above. 

    
3) Review the 2013 Bickle-Schmidt Sports Complex Financial Report. The Bickle-

Schmidt Sports Complex report from the HRC shows a total loss of $21,884.47. 
The City’s YTD expenditures (November13, 2013) from the Bickle-Schmidt 
Sports Complex total $168,896.14. Staff expects to end the year with total 
expenditures from the maintenance budget in the $181,000-$185,000 range. The 
current contract states that “The Hays Recreation Commission and the Hays City 
Commission agree to conduct a joint meeting to discuss the financial profit/loss of 
the facility for the year including disbursement of funds as needed or as agreed 
upon by both parties”. There is no reimbursement being requested by the Hays 
Recreation Commission. 

 

Legal Consideration 
There are no known legal obstacles to proceeding as recommended by City Staff. 
 

Financial Consideration 
The HRC is requesting a 50% reimbursement, as outlined in the Pool Services 
Agreement, for the operational losses ($40,903.43) at Wilson Pool and the Hays Aquatic 
Park. The total reimbursement request from the City of Hays is one-half or 50% of this 
amount or $20,451.72.  
  

Options 
 
Option 1: Approve the request to pay the Hays Recreation Commission for 50% of the 
pool losses in the amount of $20,451.72 and deny or alter the requested Hays Aquatic 
Park fee increase amount. 
  
Option 2: Do nothing. It should be noted that there is a legal agreement in place for the 
pools that states “After financial reports are compiled as described in the agreement, any 
operating loss or surplus incurred by the contractor will be shared on a 50% City-50% 
Contractor basis as long as the Contractors portion of the loss does not exceed $26,000”. 
 

15



Option 3: Provide further guidance on how staff should proceed. 
 

Recommendation 
Staff recommends conducting a joint meeting with the Hays Recreation Commission and 
the Hays City Commission on December 5, 2013 with specific discussions relating to the 
agenda items mentioned in the memorandum. City Staff recommends approval to proceed 
with the pool reimbursement request from the Hays Recreation Commission for one-half 
of the total contractual revenue loss for an amount of $20,451.72 with funding from the 
2013 Pool Budget Other Contractual Services Line Item.  
 
Staff will present a rate change at a work session or regular meeting based on the 
December 5th Commission discussion/desire.   
   

Action Requested 
Conduct a joint meeting with the Hays Recreation Commission and the Hays City 
Commission on December 5, 2013 including formal action to proceed with the pool 
reimbursement request from the Hays Recreation Commission for one-half of the total 
contractual revenue loss for an amount of $20,451.72 with funding from the 2013 Pool 
Budget Other Contractual Services Line Item. 

  

Supporting Documentation 
1) Copy of the November 15, 2013 letter to Toby Dougherty, City Manager, from 

Roger Bixenman, HRC Superintendent discussing the 2013 Pool Season. 
2) Summary of Pool Operations – 2013 Pool Season 
3) Summary of statewide pool admission fees 
4) Summary of past admission rates 
5) Summary of Attendance/Season Pass/Pool Rentals 
6) Summary of Pool Subsidy (2000-2013)  
7) Copy of the Pool Services Agreement. 
8) Copy of a the November 18, 2013 letter to Toby Dougherty, City Manager, from 

Roger Bixenman, HRC Superintendent discussing the 2013 Bickle-Schmidt 
Sports Complex season. 

9) Summary of Bickle-Schmidt Sports Complex – 2013 Season 
10) Summary of Bickle-Schmidt Sports Complex participation  
11) Copy of the Bickle-Schmidt Sports Complex Facilities Agreement 

16



17



18



Facility Daily Admission Rate Individual Season Pass Rate Group Season Pass Rate
Derby "Rock City Rapids" 0‐2 yrs = Free $65 NA

3‐17 yrs = $8.00
18 yrs and up = $9.00

McPherson Water ParK 0‐3 yrs = Free $75 $210
4‐7 yrs = $2.00
8‐17 yrs = $3.00
18‐61 yrs = $4.00
62 yrs and up = $3.00

Salina "Kenwood Cove" 0‐2 yrs = Free 3‐17 yrs = $60  $180
3‐17 yrs = $3.50 18 yrs and up = $100
18‐61 yrs = $5.50
62 yrs and up = $2.50

Great Bend "The Wetlands" 0‐3 yrs = Free $40.00 for 15 admissions NA
3‐17 yrs = $3.00
18 yrs and up = $4.00

Colby Aquatic Park 0‐3 yrs = Free $65 $160
4 yrs and up = $5.00

Hutchinson "Salt City Splash" 0‐2 yrs = Free 3‐7 yrs = $25 with paying adult NA
3‐7 yrs = $1.75 with paying adult 8‐17 yrs = $50
8‐17 yrs = $3.50 18 yrs and up = $60
18 yrs and up = $4.75

Hays Aquatic Park 0‐2 yrs = Free $40 NA
3 yrs and up = $3.00

19



Admission Rates of the Hays Aquatic Park and Wilson Pool 

 

In 2005 the admission rates at the Hays Aquatic Park and Wilson Pool were changed.  The following are 

the rates from 2005‐2007. 

 Hays Aquatic Park (2005‐2007) 
o Ages 2 and under = Free 
o Ages 3 and up (Monday – Friday) = $2.50 
o Ages 3 and up (Saturday & Sunday) = $3.00 

 Wilson Pool (2005‐2007) 
o Ages 2 and under = Free 
o Ages 3 and up = $1.75 

In 2008 these rates were changed again to the following: 

 Hays Aquatic Park (2008‐Present) 
o Ages 2 and under = Free 
o Ages 3 and up = $3.00 

 Wilson Pool (2008‐Present) 
o Ages 2 and under = Free 
o Ages 3 and up = $2.00 

20



21



22



Facility year total attendance average attendance per day dollar amount subsidized by City of Hays
Hays Aquatic Park 2000 83,162 934 $26,000
Hays Aquatic Park 2001 84,767 874 $26,000
Hays Aquatic Park 2002 76,294 820 $26,000
Hays Aquatic Park 2003 62,622 732 $20,274.20
Hays Aquatic Park 2004 50,377 655 $15,701.97
Hays Aquatic Park 2005 56,090 728 $4,306.39
Hays Aquatic Park 2006 56,857 701 $3,486.37
Hays Aquatic Park 2007 54,088 643 $15,661.16
Hays Aquatic Park 2008 56,116 728 $5,820.13
Hays Aquatic Park 2009 54,513 736 $14,424.36
Hays Aquatic Park 2010 62,290 716 $5,380.89
Hays Aquatic Park 2011 60,971 753 $3,261.85
Hays Aquatic Park 2012 58,999 728 $6,344.95
Hays Aquatic Park 2013 46,270 617 $20,451.72

Wilson Pool 2003 2,951 38
Wilson Pool 2007 1,518 37
Wilson Pool 2008 2,332 38
Wilson Pool 2009 2,018 32
Wilson Pool 2010 3,441 45
Wilson Pool 2011 3,588 53
Wilson Pool 2012 5,085 71
Wilson Pool 2013 3,740 59

23



POOL SERVICES AGREEMENT THIS AGREEMENT ismade and entered into this 14th day of September 2006 byand between the City of Hays amunicipal corporation hereinafter referred toasthe City and the Hays Recreation Commission hereinafter referred toasthe Contractor WHEREAS the City owns and maintains Wilson Pool and the Hays Aquatic Park for the benefit of itscitizens and WHEREAS the City desires toengage the Contractor tomaintain said swimming pools and perform other service asmore fully set out within this document NOW THEREFORE itisagreed byand between the City and the Contractor asfollows IContractor aqrees toaKeep and maintain all equipment owned bythe City ingood working condition and perform all such repairs that may properly beaccomplished onthe premises with Contractor spersonnel using City equipment ifneeded provided all repairs or maintenance beyond the Contractor sexpertise should beperformed under the Contractor ssupervision at the City sexpense only after receiving approval from the City Parks Director bHave the sole responsibility of hiring training and supervising all personnel needed toprovide the services herein described The Contractor shall beresponsible for all employee benefits including Workman sCompensation Social Security withholding unemployment compensation or any other payroll requirements asset forth bythe United States or Kansas Statutes Acertificate of Workman sCompensation Insurance which shows the Contractor has valid and adequate coverage must befiled with the City annually cFurnish all labor and work necessary tomaintain Wilson Pool and the Hays Aquatic Park and related grounds inaworkmanlike manner consistent with generally accepted operation standards Red Cross Ellis and Associates or other nationally recognized programs dOperate said pools for anadmission bythe general public during the swimming season Swimming season isgenerally defined asthe time between Memorial Day through Labor Day General use bythe public of these facilities may besuspended for weather related incidents including lightning thunderstorms or excessive wind or labor shortages Priority for pool operations during labor shortages shall be1Hays Aquatic Park and 2Wilson Pool Adecision toclose any of the above mentioned pools will beat the discretion of the Aquatic Director according tothe policies established within this Agreement The Contractor shall notify the City of any closures assoon aspossible eCoordinate acomprehensive aquatics program outside of the general public swim times including but not limited toswim lessons aquasize sessions swim meets swim team practices special events and facility rentals

24



Pool Services Agreement Page 2DMaintain the grounds immediately surrounding all swimming pools including but not limited tolitter pick upFor Hays Aquatic Park grounds maintenance shall also include turf maintenance gMaintain the swimming pool water inasafe and sanitary condition and prepare the pools for operation prior tothe pool season and secure the pools after the end of the season hKeep inaclean and sanitary condition the pool premises toinclude but not limited tothe pool deck shower rooms locker facilities parking lot area tube storage area sundeck loose equipment deck chairs inner tubes roping etc and other related items iEstablish collect and account for admission charges bypools for all pools provided that any admission charges tosaid pools shall beapproved bythe City Commission of the City of Hays Other Fees The Contractor has the right tocharge fees for other activities not listed All revenues received from any such charges will beadded tothe total revenue received bythe Contractor asrequired inSection Vof this agreement jKeep records of all receipts from admissions rentals and concessions along with all expenses for pool operation both direct and indirect and provide the City adequate full complete and itemized accounting of said receipts and expenses bypool byNovember 1st of each year Indirect expenses include 10of the HRC Office Manager sannual salary 5of the HRC Superintendent sannual salary 66of the HRC Aquatic Director sannual salary and benefits kMaintain anadmission policy which does not discriminate against any person because of race national origin age sex or physical handicap IAssist the City indeveloping anannual budget inaccordance with the City sbudget schedule for approval bythe City Commission Make requests and estimates for materials and repairs toall pool facilities tothe Park Director prior toApril 1of each year for possible inclusion inthe next year sCity budget mProvide for the purchase of all other materials not specifically mentioned inthis agreement and provide for the necessary manpower for minor structural building and pool repairs Minor structural building and pool repairs shall mean any repair less than 500 00nProvide and pay for any telephone service for all public swimming pools 0Provide concessions at all pools toalevel deemed appropriate bythe Superintendent of the Hays Recreation pCreate and maintain management practices that create afriendly and cordial atmosphere for the mutual enjoyment of all citizens

25



Pool Services Agreement Page 3IICity aqrees toaFurnish such equipment itdeems necessary for use bythe Contractor inproviding the services herein described bProvide and pay for major structural repairs toall pools dealing with plumbing filtering electrical or mechanical equipment Major structural repairs shall include any repair inexcess of 500 00Such Major repairs must beauthorized bythe Park Director of the City and follow City Purchasing Policy cProvide and pay for needed materials and equipment such asswimming pool ladders paint paint supplies guard stands diving boards etc dPay all electric and gas utility costs for all pools eProvide for water and sewage services at all pools aswell asall water sanitation chemicals for all pools fProvide sanitation during the off season months gProvide that all pools are ingood sound mechanical condition and are incompliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act ADA prior tothe opening of each pool season III Both Darties aqree aThe City shall have at all times control of all pool premises and access tothe same bThe City Park Director and the City Manager or designee shall bethe principal contacts for overseeing this agreement The Superintendent of the Hays Recreation Commission shall bethe principal contact for the Contractor inadministrating this agreement IVContract term aThis agreement shall beinforce for afive 5year period beginning January 12007 through December 312011 unless terminated byeither party bygiving notice tothe other at least 60days prior toFebruary 1for the ensuing summer season Itisunderstood that anevaluation of the previous year sservices shall beconducted byboth parties This evaluation shall bereviewed byboth parties and may beused asabasis for modification of the following year All modifications of this agreement must bedone bymutual consent Unless otherwise stipulated inother sections this agreement shall beautomatically renewed for five 5years unless either party notifies the other of itsintention torenegotiate the lease at least one hundred twenty 120 days prior tothe termination of the primary term of this lease or any extension thereof VCompensation Inconsideration for operating and maintaining pools inthe manner described inthis agreement the City and Contractor agree tothe following financial terms

26



Pool Services Agreement Page 4After financial reports are compiled asdescribed inthe agreement any operating loss or surplus incurred bythe Contractor will beshared ona50City 50Contractor basis aslong asthe Contractor sportion of the loss does not exceed 26000 Contractor shall have the option torequest early partial payment ifexpenses over revenue for the pools cause acash flow shortage VI Annual Appropriation aThis agreement issubject toannual appropriations of the City and or Contractor INWITNESS WHEREOF both parties have executed this contract this 14th day of September 2006 CITY OF HAYS CONTRACTOR HAYS RECREATION COMMISSION Mark Junk Cn

27



 

28



CITY OF HAYS 
AGENDA ITEM COVER SHEET 

 
             COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM NO. 6  MEETING DATE: 12-12-13 

 
 
 
TOPIC:  
 
Concealed Carry Update 
 
ACTION REQUESTED: 
 
Approve Resolution No. 2013-024 to allow for a four-year exemption as required by House 
Bill 2052.   
 
NARRATIVE: 
 
The Kansas Legislature passed House Bill (HB) 2052 and made it legal to carry concealed 
weapons within public buildings. The general rule of HB 2052 says that any state or municipal 
building must have “adequate security measures” in place to prevent any weapon from 
entering the building and properly post Attorney General-approved signage if that state or 
municipal building desires to restrict the licensed concealed carry of handguns within its 
walls. HB 2052 does allow for a 4-year exemption from these requirements.  This exemption 
would require the City of Hays to have a security plan for each building and provide 
“adequate security” for the occupants.   City staff is recommending the 4-year exemption for 
12 City-owned buildings. 
 
PERSON/STAFF MEMBER(S) MAKING PRESENTATION:  
 
Toby Dougherty, City Manager 
Don Scheibler, Chief of Police 
 
ADMINISTRATION RECOMMENDATION: 
 
It is the recommendation of City staff that the City pursue a 4-year exemption from the 
requirements of HB 2052 for the 12 City-owned buildings. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION(S): 
 
NA 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Staff Memo on Concealed Carry Update 
Kansas House Bill 2052 
Attorney General Review of HB 2052 
Attorney General Opinion on “Adequate Security Measures” and “Adequate Security” 
LKM Legal Forum article “Concealed Carry Four Year Exemption” 
LKM Concealed Carry Briefing 
Resolution No. 2013-024 (to be presented at the 12-12-13 Commission meeting) 

29



Commission Work Session Agenda  
Memo  

 
From:   Don Scheibler, Chief of Police 
 
Work Session:   December 5th, 2013 
 
Subject:  Concealed Carry in Municipal Buildings Update 
 
Person(s)   Toby Dougherty, City Manager 
Responsible:   Don Scheibler, Chief of Police 
 
 

Summary 
The Kansas Legislature passed House Bill (HB) 2052 and made it legal to carry 
concealed weapons within public buildings. The general rule of HB 2052 says that any 
state or municipal building must have “adequate security measures” in place to prevent 
any weapon from entering the building and properly post Attorney General-approved 
signage if that state or municipal building desires to restrict the licensed concealed carry 
of handguns within its walls. HB 2052 does allow for a 4-year exemption from these 
requirements.  This exemption would require the City of Hays to have a security plan for 
each building and provide “adequate security” for the occupants.  City staff is 
recommending the 4-year exemption for 12 City owned buildings. 
 
 

Background  
In 2006, the Kansas Legislature passed the Personal and Family Protection Act, which 
provided the opportunity for citizens of Kansas to apply for a license to carry concealed 
firearms. The first licenses were issued on January 3, 2007, and since that time over 
80,000 Kansans have applied for a concealed carry permit.  As of October 1, 2013, over 
72,000 concealed carry licenses have been issued in Kansas. Beginning July 1, 2013, the 
State of Kansas also began recognizing all valid concealed carry licenses issued by 
another State or the District of Columbia.  
 
The Personal and Family Protection Act initially did not allow for concealed carry in 
municipal buildings so long as the building was properly marked with the appropriate 
signage. In 2013, the Kansas Legislature passed HB 2052, which authorizes the carrying 
of concealed firearms in municipal buildings. HB 2052 states that after July 1, 2013, a 
municipal building must have “adequate security measures” in place and properly 
approved signage if that municipality desires to restrict the licensed concealed carry of 
handguns within the building.  
 

30



A provision in HB 2052 allowed for a 6-month exemption from the required changes. On 
June 27, 2013, the City of Hays requested and received this exemption in order to allow 
City staff to review and make recommendations to the Commission on how to proceed. 
This exemption ends January 1, 2014. 
 

Discussion 
A review of HB 2052 shows that the City of Hays must take some action prior to January 
1, 2014 in reference to the issue of allowing concealed carry in City owned buildings. HB 
2052 provides the City with three possible options for each building: 
 

1) Allow the concealed carry of firearms in the building, 
2) Provide “adequate security measures” and not allow concealed carry in the 

building, or 
3) Request a four-year exemption that will enable exempted buildings to refrain 

from installing “adequate security measures,” while still prohibiting concealed 
carry licensees from carrying handguns into the building.  
 

City staff has reviewed and prepared an analysis for each of these options.  
 
Allow the Concealed Carry of Firearms 
 
The City has the option of removing the prohibited concealed carry sign from the 
entrance and allowing the concealed carry of firearms within the building. This will allow 
those people with a concealed carry license to enter into the City owned building with a 
gun to conduct their business. There are no initial costs for this option, and it will not 
require any further action by the City to be in compliance with HB 2052. 
  
It should be noted that the City has a policy that prohibits City employees, with the 
exception of law enforcement, from carrying a firearm while at work. While HB 2052 is 
conflicted in this area, the League of Kansas Municipalities (LKM) and the City Attorney 
both agree that the City may restrict or prohibit the carrying of concealed firearms by 
their employees while on City property or while engaged in their official duties if the city 
does so through the policy manual.  
 
While allowing the concealed carry of firearms is the least expensive of the three options, 
it is not known if it will improve the security of the building or make it safer.  It is the 
opinion of City staff that allowing more guns in the building will increase the likelihood 
of an incident or an accident occurring, causing the occupants of the building to be 
endangered.  
 
Prohibit the Concealed Carry of Firearms 
 
HB 2052 provides the City with the option to prohibit the carrying of concealed firearms 
in a city building.  To do this, the City must provide “adequate security measures” to 
ensure that no weapons are permitted to be carried into such building and mark the 
entrances with the appropriate signage. A building that contains both public access 

31



entrances and restricted access entrances is required to provide adequate security 
measures at the public access entrances only. 
 
HB 2052 defines “adequate security measures” as “the use of electronic equipment and 
personnel at public entrances to detect and restrict the carrying of any weapons into the 
state or municipal building, including, but not limited to, metal detectors, metal detector 
wands or any other equipment used for similar purposes to ensure that weapons are not 
permitted to be carried into such building by members of the public.” This means the City 
would be required to staff all public access points with security personnel and electronic 
equipment. This option would help to restrict weapons into City buildings through public 
access points but not at employee entrances. 
 
City staff investigated and determined that it would cost an estimated $5,000 to install a 
permanent security station with a metal detector. Currently, the City has ten buildings 
(not counting the Aquatic Park and Wilson pool buildings) that are accessible to the 
public.  To install a security station at each building entrance would cost $50,000.00. This 
could be done for significantly less money by using hand–held metal detector wands, but 
it would increase the danger to the security staff.  To staff the entrances to those facilities 
would require a minimum of 13 employees.  These employees would cost an estimated 
$585,000.00 annually with benefits. This cost may be reduced by using a security service 
vendor or by using personnel with less training.  Additional annual costs would include 
equipment and training for the security personnel.  
 
While this option provides the best security and does improve the safety of the buildings’ 
occupants, the mere cost alone makes it hard to justify. Citizens have become frustrated 
with City staff in the past, and Commission meetings can become contentious; however, 
City staff is unable to recall an incident where a violent act has occurred in a City 
building that would have justified the use of deadly force (firearm). City staff believes 
that the members of our community are not prepared, nor is it necessary, for them to be 
searched every time they attend a Commission meeting, pay a water bill, or visit the 
Welcome Center. City staff does not recommend this option. 
 
Four-Year Exemption to HB 2052  
  
HB 2052 provides for a 4-year exemption that will enable exempted buildings to refrain 
from installing “adequate security measures,” while still prohibiting concealed carry 
licensees from carrying handguns into the building.  This exemption requires the City to 
establish a security plan and adopt a resolution to exempt the buildings from the 
requirements of the act. The only requirement of the security plan is that it provides 
“adequate security” to the occupants of the building.  
 
HB 2052 does not define “adequate security,” and it is the opinion of the Attorney 
General (AG) that it does not mean the same as “adequate security measures.”  
According to the AG’s Opinion 2013-14, “adequate security” must be construed 
according to its ordinary meaning. The ordinary meaning of “adequate” is “satisfactory or 
acceptable in quality or quantity.” Thus, whether security is “adequate” must be 

32



determined on a case-by-case basis for each building, and the City makes this 
determination. 
 
City staff has completed a risk assessment and security plan for the following 12 City 
owned buildings:  
 
1) Public Works Facility   - 1002 Vine Street 
2) Water Plant Facility  - 1000 Vine Street  
3) Hays Regional Airport Terminal - 3950 East 8th Street 
4) Airport Fire Department  - 3950 East 8th Street 
5) Waste Water Treatment Plant - 1498 Hwy 40 Bypass 
6) Parks Department Office Facility - 1546 Hwy 183 Alt. 
7) City Hall / Hays Fire Department - 1507 Main Street 
8) Hays Welcome Center  - 2700 Vine Street 
9) Golf Course Club House  - 1450 Golf Course Road 
10) Hays Aquatic Park Building - 300 Main Street 
11) Wilson Pool Building  - 101 East 28th Street 
12) Recycling Facility   - 1780 West 55th Street 
 
The risk assessment for each building shows that potential for violence at these building 
is minimal. The City has always made it a priority to provide a safe and secure 
environment for our employees to work in and for our citizens to live in. It is the opinion 
of City staff that there is adequate security at each of these buildings to merit the 
prohibition of the carrying of concealed firearms as authorized by the Personal and 
Family Protection Act. 
 
While adequate security is currently in place, the risk assessments for each building did 
help identify several areas where improvement could be made to increase the safety for 
the occupants of each of the buildings. These improvements include, but are not limited 
to, installing “panic buttons” and electronic door locks, limiting access to buildings, and 
continuing employee training on safety and security. City staff recommends these 
improvements in the future no matter what option is chosen. 
 
If the City should choose to take the 4-year exemption, the City must prepare a notice of 
exemption and adopt a resolution exempting each building. The exemption notice and 
resolution for each building must then be sent to the AG’s office and the Hays Police 
Department. The City must keep the security plan for each building on file. The security 
plan is not reviewed by the State of Kansas and is not subject to the Kansas Open 
Records Act; however, it must be made available to the AG and local law enforcement if 
requested. 
 
City staff contacted 8 comparable communities and found that the common theme is that 
HB 2052 is very confusing and open to interpretation in many areas. As a result most 
communities are still in the process of determining what action to take reference HB 
2052. Junction City has taken the 4-year exemption for all City owned buildings and Ellis 
County is pursuing the 4-year exemption for all county owned buildings, with the 
exception of the Ellis County Court House which will not allow concealed carry. 

33



McPherson, Salina, Emporia, and Manhattan all said that they had, were in the process, 
or were considering exempting their city government buildings. Colby plans on removing 
the signs and allowing concealed carry in all buildings with the exception of their 
community building. Only Newton and Garden City indicated that it was their intention 
to take down all the signs on January 1st, 2014. Fort Hays State University has taken the 
4-year exemption for their campus. 
 
 

Municipalities 4-Year 
Exemption 

Allow Concealed 
Carry 

Notes 

Newton  X All Buildings 
Garden City  X All Buildings 
Junction City X  All Buildings 
McPherson X  City Hall & Municipal Court 
Emporia X  Municipal Building 
Colby X  Community Building 
Manhattan X  Municipal Building 
Salina X  City Government Building 
    

Other    
Fort Hays State X  4-Year Exemption for Entire Campus 
Ellis County X  4-Year Exemption for All Buildings 
    

 
 

Legal Consideration 
There are no known legal obstacles to proceeding as recommended by City Staff. 

 

Financial Consideration 
Providing adequate security measures as defined in HB 2052 and not allowing concealed 
carry in the 12 City owned buildings will require an estimated $50,000.00 in electronic 
equipment. There will also be an annual cost of $585,000.00 to staff the security access 
points. Any costs incurred are the result of an unfunded mandate by the State of Kansas 
and will be the responsibility of the City.  
  

Options 
There are three options for each of the 12 City owned buildings. 
 
Option #1: Remove the signs and allow the concealed carry of firearms. 
 
Option #2: Provide adequate security measures as define in HB 2052 and not allow 
concealed carry in the building, or 
 

34



Option #3: Pursue the 4-year exemption from the requirements of HB 2052. This 
exemption would require the City to have a security plan for each building and provide 
adequate security for the occupants. 

 

Recommendation 
It is the recommendation of City staff that the City pursue a 4-year exemption from the 
requirements of HB 2052 for the 12 City owned buildings.  
 

Action Requested 
Request the Commission discuss and provide direction for staff. 
 

Supporting Documentation 
Kansas House Bill 2052 
Attorney General Review of HB 2052 
Attorney General Opinion on “Adequate Security Measures” and “Adequate Security” 
LKM Legal Forum article “Concealed Carry Four Year Exemption  
LKM Concealed Carry Briefing 
 
 

35



Senate Substitute for HOUSE BILL No. 2052

AN ACT concerning firearms; dealing with the personal and family protection act; amending
K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 21-6302, 21-6309, 45-221, 75-7c05, 75-7c06, 75-7c10 and 75-7c17
and repealing the existing sections; also repealing K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 45-221j and 45-
221k.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of the State of Kansas:

New Section 1. (a) Unlawful discharge of a firearm is the reckless
discharge of a firearm within or into the corporate limits of any city.

(b) This section shall not apply to the discharge of any firearm within
or into the corporate limits of any city if:

(1) The firearm is discharged in the lawful defense of one’s person,
another person or one’s property;

(2) the firearm is discharged at a private or public shooting range;
(3) the firearm is discharged to lawfully take wildlife unless prohib-

ited by the department of wildlife, parks and tourism or the governing
body of the city;

(4) the firearm is discharged by authorized law enforcement officers,
animal control officers or a person who has a wildlife control permit issued
by the Kansas department of wildlife, parks and tourism;

(5) the firearm is discharged by special permit of the chief of police
or by the sheriff when the city has no police department;

(6) the firearm is discharged using blanks; or
(7) the firearm is discharged in lawful self-defense or defense of an-

other person against an animal attack.
(c) A violation of subsection (a) shall be a class B nonperson misde-

meanor.

New Sec. 2. (a) The carrying of a concealed handgun as authorized
by the personal and family protection act shall not be prohibited in any
state or municipal building unless such building has adequate security
measures to ensure that no weapons are permitted to be carried into such
building and the building is conspicuously posted in accordance with
K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 75-7c10, and amendments thereto.

(b) Any state or municipal building which contains both public access
entrances and restricted access entrances shall provide adequate security
measures at the public access entrances in order to prohibit the carrying
of any weapons into such building.

(c) No state agency or municipality shall prohibit an employee who
is licensed to carry a concealed handgun under the provisions of the per-
sonal and family protection act from carrying such concealed handgun at
the employee’s work place unless the building has adequate security
measures and the building is conspicuously posted in accordance with
K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 75-7c10, and amendments thereto.

(d) It shall not be a violation of the personal and family protection
act for a person to carry a concealed handgun into a state or municipal
building so long as that person is licensed to carry a concealed handgun
under the provisions of the personal and family protection act and has
authority to enter through a restricted access entrance into such building
which provides adequate security measures and the building is conspic-
uously posted in accordance with K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 75-7c10, and amend-
ments thereto.

(e) A state agency or municipality which provides adequate security
measures in a state or municipal building and which conspicuously posts
signage in accordance with K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 75-7c10, and amendments
thereto, prohibiting the carrying of a concealed handgun in such building,
as authorized by the personal and family protection act, such state agency
or municipality shall not be liable for any wrongful act or omission relating
to actions of persons licensed to carry a concealed handgun concerning
acts or omissions regarding such handguns.

(f) A state agency or municipality which does not provide adequate
security measures in a state or municipal building and which allows the
carrying of a concealed handgun as authorized by the personal and family
protection act shall not be liable for any wrongful act or omission relating
to actions of persons licensed to carry a concealed handgun concerning
acts or omissions regarding such handguns.

(g) Nothing in this act shall limit the ability of a corrections facility,
a jail facility or a law enforcement agency to prohibit the carrying of a
handgun or other firearm concealed or unconcealed by any person into
any secure area of a building located on such premises, except those areas

36

dscheibler
Highlight



Senate Substitute for HOUSE BILL No. 2052—page 2

of such building outside of a secure area and readily accessible to the
public shall be subject to the provisions of subsection (b).

(h) Nothing in this section shall limit the ability of the chief judge of
each judicial district to prohibit the carrying of a concealed handgun by
any person into courtrooms or ancillary courtrooms within the district
provided that other means of security are employed such as armed law
enforcement or armed security officers.

(i) The governing body or the chief administrative officer, if no gov-
erning body exists, of a state or municipal building, may exempt the build-
ing from this section until January 1, 2014, by notifying the Kansas attor-
ney general and the law enforcement agency of the local jurisdiction by
letter of such exemption. Thereafter, such governing body or chief ad-
minstrative officer may exempt a state or municipal building for a period
of only four years by adopting a resolution, or drafting a letter, listing the
legal description of such building, listing the reasons for such exemption,
and including the following statement: ‘‘A security plan has been devel-
oped for the building being exempted which supplies adequate security
to the occupants of the building and merits the prohibition of the carrying
of a concealed handgun as authorized by the personal and family protec-
tion act.’’ A copy of the security plan for the building shall be maintained
on file and shall be made available, upon request, to the Kansas attorney
general and the law enforcement agency of local jurisdiction. Notice of
this exemption, together with the resolution adopted or the letter drafted,
shall be sent to the Kansas attorney general and to the law enforcement
agency of local jurisdiction. The security plan shall not be subject to dis-
closure under the Kansas open records act.

(j) The governing body or the chief administrative officer, if no gov-
erning body exists, of any of the following institutions may exempt any
building of such institution from this section for a period of four years
only by stating the reasons for such exemption and sending notice of such
exemption to the Kansas attorney general:

(1) A state or municipal-owned medical care facility, as defined in
K.S.A. 65-425, and amendments thereto;

(2) a state or municipal-owned adult care home, as defined in K.S.A.
39-923, and amendments thereto;

(3) a community mental health center organized pursuant to K.S.A.
19-4001 et seq., and amendments thereto;

(4) an indigent health care clinic, as defined by K.S.A. 2012 Supp.
65-7402, and amendments thereto; or

(5) a postsecondary educational institution, as defined in K.S.A. 74-
3201b, and amendments thereto, including any buildings located on the
grounds of such institution and any buildings leased by such institution.

(k) The provisions of this section shall not apply to any building lo-
cated on the grounds of the Kansas state school for the deaf or the Kansas
state school for the blind.

(l) For purposes of this section:
(1) ‘‘Adequate security measures’’ means the use of electronic equip-

ment and personnel at public entrances to detect and restrict the carrying
of any weapons into the state or municipal building, including, but not
limited to, metal detectors, metal detector wands or any other equipment
used for similar purposes to ensure that weapons are not permitted to be
carried into such building by members of the public. Adequate security
measures for storing and securing lawfully carried weapons, including,
but not limited to, the use of gun lockers or other similar storage options
may be provided at public entrances.

(2) The terms ‘‘municipality’’ and ‘‘municipal’’ are interchangeable
and have the same meaning as the term ‘‘municipality’’ is defined in
K.S.A. 75-6102, and amendments thereto, but does not include school
districts.

(3) ‘‘Restricted access entrance’’ means an entrance that is restricted
to the public and requires a key, keycard, code, or similar device to allow
entry to authorized personnel.

(4) ‘‘State’’ means the same as the term is defined in K.S.A. 75-6102,
and amendments thereto.

(5) (A) ‘‘State or municipal building’’ means a building owned or
leased by such public entity. It does not include a building owned by the
state or a municipality which is leased by a private entity whether for

37

dscheibler
Highlight



Senate Substitute for HOUSE BILL No. 2052—page 3

profit or not-for-profit or a building held in title by the state or a munic-
ipality solely for reasons of revenue bond financing.

(B) On and after July 1, 2014, provided that the provisions of section
3, and amendments thereto, are in full force and effect, the term ‘‘state
and municipal building’’ shall not include the state capitol.

(6) ‘‘Weapon’’ means a weapon described in K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 21-
6301, and amendments thereto.

(m) This section shall be a part of and supplemental to the personal
and family protection act.

New Sec. 3. (a) A license issued under K.S.A. 75-7c01 et seq., and
amendments thereto, shall authorize the licensee to carry a concealed
handgun in the state capitol in accordance with the provisions of K.S.A.
75-7c01 et seq., and amendments thereto.

(b) The provisions of this section shall take effect and be in force
from and after July 1, 2014, unless the legislative coordinating council
determines that on July 1, 2014, the state capitol does have adequate
security measures, as that term is defined in section 2, and amendments
thereto, to ensure that no weapons are permitted to be carried into the
state capitol. Such determination shall be made on or after June 1, 2014,
but no later than July 1, 2014.

(c) This section shall be a part of and supplemental to the personal
and family protection act.

Sec. 4. K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 21-6302 is hereby amended to read as
follows: 21-6302. (a) Criminal carrying of a weapon is knowingly carrying:

(1) Any bludgeon, sandclub, metal knuckles or throwing star, or any
knife, commonly referred to as a switch-blade, which has a blade that
opens automatically by hand pressure applied to a button, spring or other
device in the handle of the knife, or any knife having a blade that opens
or falls or is ejected into position by the force of gravity or by an outward,
downward or centrifugal thrust or movement;

(2) concealed on one’s person, a dagger, dirk, billy, blackjack, slung-
shot, dangerous knife, straight-edged razor, stiletto or any other danger-
ous or deadly weapon or instrument of like character, except that an
ordinary pocket knife with no blade more than four inches in length shall
not be construed to be a dangerous knife, or a dangerous or deadly
weapon or instrument;

(3) on one’s person or in any land, water or air vehicle, with intent
to use the same unlawfully, a tear gas or smoke bomb or projector or any
object containing a noxious liquid, gas or substance;

(4) any pistol, revolver or other firearm concealed on one’s person
except when on the person’s land or in the person’s abode or fixed place
of business; or

(5) a shotgun with a barrel less than 18 inches in length or any other
firearm designed to discharge or capable of discharging automatically
more than once by a single function of the trigger whether the person
knows or has reason to know the length of the barrel or that the firearm
is designed or capable of discharging automatically.

(b) Criminal carrying of a weapon as defined in:
(1) Subsections (a)(1), (a)(2), (a)(3) or (a)(4) is a class A nonperson

misdemeanor; and
(2) subsection (a)(5) is a severity level 9, nonperson felony.
(c) Subsection (a) shall not apply to:
(1) Law enforcement officers, or any person summoned by any such

officers to assist in making arrests or preserving the peace while actually
engaged in assisting such officer;

(2) wardens, superintendents, directors, security personnel and keep-
ers of prisons, penitentiaries, jails and other institutions for the detention
of persons accused or convicted of crime, while acting within the scope
of their authority;

(3) members of the armed services or reserve forces of the United
States or the Kansas national guard while in the performance of their
official duty; or

(4) the manufacture of, transportation to, or sale of weapons to a
person authorized under subsections (c)(1), (c)(2) and (c)(3) to possess
such weapons.

(d) Subsection (a)(4) shall not apply to:

38

dscheibler
Highlight



Senate Substitute for HOUSE BILL No. 2052—page 4

(1) Watchmen, while actually engaged in the performance of the du-
ties of their employment;

(2) licensed hunters or fishermen, while engaged in hunting or fish-
ing;

(3) private detectives licensed by the state to carry the firearm in-
volved, while actually engaged in the duties of their employment;

(4) detectives or special agents regularly employed by railroad com-
panies or other corporations to perform full-time security or investigative
service, while actually engaged in the duties of their employment;

(5) the state fire marshal, the state fire marshal’s deputies or any
member of a fire department authorized to carry a firearm pursuant to
K.S.A. 31-157, and amendments thereto, while engaged in an investiga-
tion in which such fire marshal, deputy or member is authorized to carry
a firearm pursuant to K.S.A. 31-157, and amendments thereto;

(6) special deputy sheriffs described in K.S.A. 19-827, and amend-
ments thereto, who have satisfactorily completed the basic course of in-
struction required for permanent appointment as a part-time law enforce-
ment officer under K.S.A. 74-5607a, and amendments thereto;

(7) the United States attorney for the district of Kansas, the attorney
general, any district attorney or county attorney, any assistant United
States attorney if authorized by the United States attorney for the district
of Kansas, any assistant attorney general if authorized by the attorney
general, or any assistant district attorney or assistant county attorney if
authorized by the district attorney or county attorney by whom such as-
sistant is employed. The provisions of this paragraph shall not apply to
any person not in compliance with K.S.A. 75-7c19, and amendments
thereto; or

(8) law enforcement officers from another state or a retired law en-
forcement officer meeting the requirements of the federal law enforcement
officers safety act, 18 U.S.C. §§ 926B and 926C; or

(8)(9) any person carrying a concealed handgun as authorized by
K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 75-7c01 through 75-7c17, and amendments thereto.

(e) Subsection (a)(5) shall not apply to:
(1) Any person who sells, purchases, possesses or carries a firearm,

device or attachment which has been rendered unserviceable by steel
weld in the chamber and marriage weld of the barrel to the receiver and
which has been registered in the national firearms registration and trans-
fer record in compliance with 26 U.S.C. § 5841 et seq. in the name of
such person and, if such person transfers such firearm, device or attach-
ment to another person, has been so registered in the transferee’s name
by the transferor;

(2) any person employed by a laboratory which is certified by the
United States department of justice, national institute of justice, while
actually engaged in the duties of their employment and on the premises
of such certified laboratory. Subsection (a)(5) shall not affect the manu-
facture of, transportation to or sale of weapons to such certified labora-
tory; or

(3) any person or entity in compliance with the national firearms act,
26 U.S.C. § 5801 et seq.

(f) Subsection (a)(1) shall not apply to any ordinary pocket knife
which has a spring, detent or other device which creates a bias towards
closure of the blade and which requires hand pressure applied to such
spring, detent or device through the blade of the knife to overcome the
bias towards closure to assist in the opening of the knife.

(g) It shall not be a violation of this section if a person violates the
provisions of K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 75-7c03, and amendments thereto, but
has an otherwise valid license to carry a concealed handgun which is
issued or recognized by this state.

(h) As used in this section, ‘‘throwing star’’ means the same as pre-
scribed by K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 21-6301, and amendments thereto.

Sec. 5. K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 21-6309 is hereby amended to read as
follows: 21-6309. (a) It shall be unlawful to possess, with no requirement
of a culpable mental state, a firearm on the grounds in any of the following
places:

(1) Within any building located within the capitol complex;
(2) within the governor’s residence;

39



Senate Substitute for HOUSE BILL No. 2052—page 5

(3) on the grounds of or in any building on the grounds of the gov-
ernor’s residence;

(4) within any other state-owned or leased building if the secretary
of administration has so designated by rules and regulations and conspic-
uously placed signs clearly stating that firearms are prohibited within such
building; or

(5) within any county courthouse, unless, by county resolution, the
board of county commissioners authorize the possession of a firearm
within such courthouse.

(b) Violation of this section is a class A misdemeanor.
(c) This section shall not apply to:
(1) A commissioned law enforcement officer;
(2) a full-time salaried law enforcement officer of another state or

the federal government who is carrying out official duties while in this
state;

(3) any person summoned by any such officer to assist in making
arrests or preserving the peace while actually engaged in assisting such
officer; or

(4) a member of the military of this state or the United States engaged
in the performance of duties; or.

(5) a person with a license issued pursuant to or recognized under
K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 75-7c01 et seq., and amendments thereto, except in
buildings posted in accordance with K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 75-7c10, and
amendments thereto, and in the areas specified in subsections (a)(2) and
(a)(3).

(d) It is not a violation of this section for the:
(1) Governor, the governor’s immediate family, or specifically au-

thorized guest of the governor to possess a firearm within the governor’s
residence or on the grounds of or in any building on the grounds of the
governor’s residence; or

(2) United States attorney for the district of Kansas, the attorney gen-
eral, any district attorney or county attorney, any assistant United States
attorney if authorized by the United States attorney for the district of
Kansas, any assistant attorney general if authorized by the attorney gen-
eral, or any assistant district attorney or assistant county attorney if au-
thorized by the district attorney or county attorney by whom such assistant
is employed, to possess a firearm within any county courthouse and court-
related facility, subject to any restrictions or prohibitions imposed in any
courtroom by the chief judge of the judicial district. The provisions of
this paragraph shall not apply to any person not in compliance with K.S.A.
2012 Supp. 75-7c19, and amendments thereto; or

(3) law enforcement officers from another state or a retired law en-
forcement officer meeting the requirements of the federal law enforcement
officers safety act, 18 U.S.C. §§ 926B and 926C, to possess a firearm.

(e) It is not a violation of this section for a person to possess a hand-
gun as authorized under the personal and family protection act.

(f) Notwithstanding the provisions of this section, any county may
elect by passage of a resolution that the provisions of subsection (d)(2)
shall not apply to such county’s courthouse or court-related facilities if
such:

(1) Facilities Buildings have adequate security measures to ensure
that no weapons are permitted to be carried into such facilities buildings;

(2) facilities have adequate measures for storing and securing lawfully
carried weapons, including, but not limited to, the use of gun lockers or
other similar storage options;

(3)(2) county also has a policy or regulation requiring all law enforce-
ment officers to secure and store such officer’s firearm upon entering the
courthouse or court-related facility. Such policy or regulation may provide
that it does not apply to court security or sheriff’s office personnel for
such county; and

(4)(3) facilities buildings have a sign conspicuously posted at each
entryway into such facility building stating that the provisions of subsec-
tion (d)(2) do not apply to such facility building.

(f)(g) As used in this section:
(1) ‘‘Adequate security measures’’ means the use of electronic equip-

ment and personnel to detect and restrict the carrying of any weapons
into the facility, including, but not limited to, metal detectors, metal de-
tector wands or any other equipment used for similar purposes shall have

40



Senate Substitute for HOUSE BILL No. 2052—page 6

the same meaning as the term is defined in section 2, and amendments
thereto;

(2) ‘‘possession’’ means having joint or exclusive control over a fire-
arm or having a firearm in a place where the person has some measure
of access and right of control; and

(3) ‘‘capitol complex’’ means the same as in K.S.A. 75-4514, and
amendments thereto.

(g)(h) For the purposes of subsection subsections (a)(1), (a)(4) and
(a)(5), ‘‘building’’ and ‘‘courthouse’’ shall not include any structure, or any
area of any structure, designated for the parking of motor vehicles.

Sec. 6. K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 45-221 is hereby amended to read as fol-
lows: 45-221. (a) Except to the extent disclosure is otherwise required by
law, a public agency shall not be required to disclose:

(1) Records the disclosure of which is specifically prohibited or re-
stricted by federal law, state statute or rule of the Kansas supreme court
or rule of the senate committee on confirmation oversight relating to
information submitted to the committee pursuant to K.S.A. 2012 Supp.
75-4315d, and amendments thereto, or the disclosure of which is prohib-
ited or restricted pursuant to specific authorization of federal law, state
statute or rule of the Kansas supreme court or rule of the senate com-
mittee on confirmation oversight relating to information submitted to the
committee pursuant to K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 75-4315d, and amendments
thereto, to restrict or prohibit disclosure.

(2) Records which are privileged under the rules of evidence, unless
the holder of the privilege consents to the disclosure.

(3) Medical, psychiatric, psychological or alcoholism or drug depend-
ency treatment records which pertain to identifiable patients.

(4) Personnel records, performance ratings or individually identifia-
ble records pertaining to employees or applicants for employment, except
that this exemption shall not apply to the names, positions, salaries or
actual compensation employment contracts or employment-related con-
tracts or agreements and lengths of service of officers and employees of
public agencies once they are employed as such.

(5) Information which would reveal the identity of any undercover
agent or any informant reporting a specific violation of law.

(6) Letters of reference or recommendation pertaining to the char-
acter or qualifications of an identifiable individual, except documents re-
lating to the appointment of persons to fill a vacancy in an elected office.

(7) Library, archive and museum materials contributed by private
persons, to the extent of any limitations imposed as conditions of the
contribution.

(8) Information which would reveal the identity of an individual who
lawfully makes a donation to a public agency, if anonymity of the donor
is a condition of the donation, except if the donation is intended for or
restricted to providing remuneration or personal tangible benefit to a
named public officer or employee.

(9) Testing and examination materials, before the test or examination
is given or if it is to be given again, or records of individual test or ex-
amination scores, other than records which show only passage or failure
and not specific scores.

(10) Criminal investigation records, except as provided herein. The
district court, in an action brought pursuant to K.S.A. 45-222, and amend-
ments thereto, may order disclosure of such records, subject to such con-
ditions as the court may impose, if the court finds that disclosure:

(A) Is in the public interest;
(B) would not interfere with any prospective law enforcement action,

criminal investigation or prosecution;
(C) would not reveal the identity of any confidential source or un-

dercover agent;
(D) would not reveal confidential investigative techniques or proce-

dures not known to the general public;
(E) would not endanger the life or physical safety of any person; and
(F) would not reveal the name, address, phone number or any other

information which specifically and individually identifies the victim of any
sexual offense in article 35 of chapter 21 of the Kansas Statutes Anno-
tated, prior to their repeal, or article 55 of chapter 21 of the Kansas
Statutes Annotated, and amendments thereto.

41



Senate Substitute for HOUSE BILL No. 2052—page 7

If a public record is discretionarily closed by a public agency pursuant
to this subsection, the record custodian, upon request, shall provide a
written citation to the specific provisions of paragraphs (A) through (F)
that necessitate closure of that public record.

(11) Records of agencies involved in administrative adjudication or
civil litigation, compiled in the process of detecting or investigating vio-
lations of civil law or administrative rules and regulations, if disclosure
would interfere with a prospective administrative adjudication or civil
litigation or reveal the identity of a confidential source or undercover
agent.

(12) Records of emergency or security information or procedures of
a public agency, or plans, drawings, specifications or related information
for any building or facility which is used for purposes requiring security
measures in or around the building or facility or which is used for the
generation or transmission of power, water, fuels or communications, if
disclosure would jeopardize security of the public agency, building or
facility.

(13) The contents of appraisals or engineering or feasibility estimates
or evaluations made by or for a public agency relative to the acquisition
or disposal of property, prior to the award of formal contracts therefor.

(14) Correspondence between a public agency and a private individ-
ual, other than correspondence which is intended to give notice of an
action, policy or determination relating to any regulatory, supervisory or
enforcement responsibility of the public agency or which is widely dis-
tributed to the public by a public agency and is not specifically in response
to communications from such a private individual.

(15) Records pertaining to employer-employee negotiations, if dis-
closure would reveal information discussed in a lawful executive session
under K.S.A. 75-4319, and amendments thereto.

(16) Software programs for electronic data processing and documen-
tation thereof, but each public agency shall maintain a register, open to
the public, that describes:

(A) The information which the agency maintains on computer facil-
ities; and

(B) the form in which the information can be made available using
existing computer programs.

(17) Applications, financial statements and other information sub-
mitted in connection with applications for student financial assistance
where financial need is a consideration for the award.

(18) Plans, designs, drawings or specifications which are prepared by
a person other than an employee of a public agency or records which are
the property of a private person.

(19) Well samples, logs or surveys which the state corporation com-
mission requires to be filed by persons who have drilled or caused to be
drilled, or are drilling or causing to be drilled, holes for the purpose of
discovery or production of oil or gas, to the extent that disclosure is limited
by rules and regulations of the state corporation commission.

(20) Notes, preliminary drafts, research data in the process of anal-
ysis, unfunded grant proposals, memoranda, recommendations or other
records in which opinions are expressed or policies or actions are pro-
posed, except that this exemption shall not apply when such records are
publicly cited or identified in an open meeting or in an agenda of an open
meeting.

(21) Records of a public agency having legislative powers, which re-
cords pertain to proposed legislation or amendments to proposed legis-
lation, except that this exemption shall not apply when such records are:

(A) Publicly cited or identified in an open meeting or in an agenda
of an open meeting; or

(B) distributed to a majority of a quorum of any body which has au-
thority to take action or make recommendations to the public agency with
regard to the matters to which such records pertain.

(22) Records of a public agency having legislative powers, which re-
cords pertain to research prepared for one or more members of such
agency, except that this exemption shall not apply when such records are:

(A) Publicly cited or identified in an open meeting or in an agenda
of an open meeting; or

(B) distributed to a majority of a quorum of any body which has au-

42



Senate Substitute for HOUSE BILL No. 2052—page 8

thority to take action or make recommendations to the public agency with
regard to the matters to which such records pertain.

(23) Library patron and circulation records which pertain to identi-
fiable individuals.

(24) Records which are compiled for census or research purposes and
which pertain to identifiable individuals.

(25) Records which represent and constitute the work product of an
attorney.

(26) Records of a utility or other public service pertaining to individ-
ually identifiable residential customers of the utility or service, except that
information concerning billings for specific individual customers named
by the requester shall be subject to disclosure as provided by this act.

(27) Specifications for competitive bidding, until the specifications
are officially approved by the public agency.

(28) Sealed bids and related documents, until a bid is accepted or all
bids rejected.

(29) Correctional records pertaining to an identifiable inmate or re-
lease, except that:

(A) The name; photograph and other identifying information; sen-
tence data; parole eligibility date; custody or supervision level; disciplinary
record; supervision violations; conditions of supervision, excluding
requirements pertaining to mental health or substance abuse counseling;
location of facility where incarcerated or location of parole office main-
taining supervision and address of a releasee whose crime was committed
after the effective date of this act shall be subject to disclosure to any
person other than another inmate or releasee, except that the disclosure
of the location of an inmate transferred to another state pursuant to the
interstate corrections compact shall be at the discretion of the secretary
of corrections;

(B) the ombudsman of corrections, the attorney general, law enforce-
ment agencies, counsel for the inmate to whom the record pertains and
any county or district attorney shall have access to correctional records to
the extent otherwise permitted by law;

(C) the information provided to the law enforcement agency pursu-
ant to the sex offender registration act, K.S.A. 22-4901 et seq., and
amendments thereto, shall be subject to disclosure to any person, except
that the name, address, telephone number or any other information which
specifically and individually identifies the victim of any offender required
to register as provided by the Kansas offender registration act, K.S.A. 22-
4901 et seq., and amendments thereto, shall not be disclosed; and

(D) records of the department of corrections regarding the financial
assets of an offender in the custody of the secretary of corrections shall
be subject to disclosure to the victim, or such victim’s family, of the crime
for which the inmate is in custody as set forth in an order of restitution
by the sentencing court.

(30) Public records containing information of a personal nature
where the public disclosure thereof would constitute a clearly unwar-
ranted invasion of personal privacy.

(31) Public records pertaining to prospective location of a business
or industry where no previous public disclosure has been made of the
business’ or industry’s interest in locating in, relocating within or expand-
ing within the state. This exception shall not include those records per-
taining to application of agencies for permits or licenses necessary to do
business or to expand business operations within this state, except as
otherwise provided by law.

(32) Engineering and architectural estimates made by or for any pub-
lic agency relative to public improvements.

(33) Financial information submitted by contractors in qualification
statements to any public agency.

(34) Records involved in the obtaining and processing of intellectual
property rights that are expected to be, wholly or partially vested in or
owned by a state educational institution, as defined in K.S.A. 76-711, and
amendments thereto, or an assignee of the institution organized and ex-
isting for the benefit of the institution.

(35) Any report or record which is made pursuant to K.S.A. 65-4922,
65-4923 or 65-4924, and amendments thereto, and which is privileged
pursuant to K.S.A. 65-4915 or 65-4925, and amendments thereto.

43



Senate Substitute for HOUSE BILL No. 2052—page 9

(36) Information which would reveal the precise location of an ar-
cheological site.

(37) Any financial data or traffic information from a railroad company,
to a public agency, concerning the sale, lease or rehabilitation of the
railroad’s property in Kansas.

(38) Risk-based capital reports, risk-based capital plans and corrective
orders including the working papers and the results of any analysis filed
with the commissioner of insurance in accordance with K.S.A. 40-2c20
and 40-2d20, and amendments thereto.

(39) Memoranda and related materials required to be used to support
the annual actuarial opinions submitted pursuant to subsection (b) of
K.S.A. 40-409, and amendments thereto.

(40) Disclosure reports filed with the commissioner of insurance un-
der subsection (a) of K.S.A. 40-2,156, and amendments thereto.

(41) All financial analysis ratios and examination synopses concerning
insurance companies that are submitted to the commissioner by the na-
tional association of insurance commissioners’ insurance regulatory infor-
mation system.

(42) Any records the disclosure of which is restricted or prohibited
by a tribal-state gaming compact.

(43) Market research, market plans, business plans and the terms and
conditions of managed care or other third-party contracts, developed or
entered into by the university of Kansas medical center in the operation
and management of the university hospital which the chancellor of the
university of Kansas or the chancellor’s designee determines would give
an unfair advantage to competitors of the university of Kansas medical
center.

(44) The amount of franchise tax paid to the secretary of revenue or
the secretary of state by domestic corporations, foreign corporations, do-
mestic limited liability companies, foreign limited liability companies, do-
mestic limited partnership, foreign limited partnership, domestic limited
liability partnerships and foreign limited liability partnerships.

(45) Records, other than criminal investigation records, the disclo-
sure of which would pose a substantial likelihood of revealing security
measures that protect: (A) Systems, facilities or equipment used in the
production, transmission or distribution of energy, water or communi-
cations services; (B) transportation and sewer or wastewater treatment
systems, facilities or equipment; or (C) private property or persons, if the
records are submitted to the agency. For purposes of this paragraph,
security means measures that protect against criminal acts intended to
intimidate or coerce the civilian population, influence government policy
by intimidation or coercion or to affect the operation of government by
disruption of public services, mass destruction, assassination or kidnap-
ping. Security measures include, but are not limited to, intelligence in-
formation, tactical plans, resource deployment and vulnerability assess-
ments.

(46) Any information or material received by the register of deeds of
a county from military discharge papers, DD Form 214. Such papers shall
be disclosed: To the military dischargee; to such dischargee’s immediate
family members and lineal descendants; to such dischargee’s heirs, agents
or assigns; to the licensed funeral director who has custody of the body
of the deceased dischargee; when required by a department or agency of
the federal or state government or a political subdivision thereof; when
the form is required to perfect the claim of military service or honorable
discharge or a claim of a dependent of the dischargee; and upon the
written approval of the commissioner of veterans affairs, to a person con-
ducting research.

(47) Information that would reveal the location of a shelter or a safe-
house or similar place where persons are provided protection from abuse
or the name, address, location or other contact information of alleged
victims of stalking, domestic violence or sexual assault.

(48) Policy information provided by an insurance carrier in accord-
ance with subsection (h)(1) of K.S.A. 44-532, and amendments thereto.
This exemption shall not be construed to preclude access to an individual
employer’s record for the purpose of verification of insurance coverage
or to the department of labor for their business purposes.

(49) An individual’s e-mail address, cell phone number and other con-
tact information which has been given to the public agency for the pur-

44



Senate Substitute for HOUSE BILL No. 2052—page 10

pose of public agency notifications or communications which are widely
distributed to the public.

(50) Information provided by providers to the local collection point
administrator or to the 911 coordinating council pursuant to the Kansas
911 act, and amendments thereto, upon request of the party submitting
such records.

(51) Records of a public agency which identify the home address or
home ownership of a law enforcement officer as defined in K.S.A. 2012
Supp. 21-5111, and amendments thereto, parole officer, probation offi-
cer, court services officer or community correctional services officer. The
agency head of such law enforcement office, parole office, probation of-
fice, court services office or community correctional services office or
such individual officer shall file with the custodian of such record a re-
quest to have such officer’s identifying information removed from public
access. Within seven days of receipt of such requests, the public agency
shall remove such officer’s identifying information from such public ac-
cess.

(52) Records of a public agency which identify the home address or
home ownership of a federal judge, a justice of the supreme court, a judge
of the court of appeals, a district judge, a district magistrate judge, the
United States attorney for the district of Kansas, an assistant United States
attorney, the attorney general, an assistant attorney general, a district
attorney or county attorney or an assistant district attorney or assistant
county attorney. Such person or such person’s employer shall file with
the custodian of such record a request to have such person’s identifying
information removed from public access. Within seven days of receipt of
such requests, the public agency shall remove such person’s identifying
information from such public access.

(53) Records of a public agency that would disclose the name, home
address, zip code, e-mail address, phone number or cell phone number or
other contact information for any person licensed to carry concealed
handguns or of any person who enrolled in or completed any weapons
training in order to be licensed or has made application for such license
under the personal and family protection act, K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 75-7c01
et seq., and amendments thereto.

(b) Except to the extent disclosure is otherwise required by law or as
appropriate during the course of an administrative proceeding or on ap-
peal from agency action, a public agency or officer shall not disclose fi-
nancial information of a taxpayer which may be required or requested by
a county appraiser or the director of property valuation to assist in the
determination of the value of the taxpayer’s property for ad valorem tax-
ation purposes; or any financial information of a personal nature required
or requested by a public agency or officer, including a name, job descrip-
tion or title revealing the salary or other compensation of officers, em-
ployees or applicants for employment with a firm, corporation or agency,
except a public agency. Nothing contained herein shall be construed to
prohibit the publication of statistics, so classified as to prevent identifi-
cation of particular reports or returns and the items thereof.

(c) As used in this section, the term ‘’cited or identified’’ shall not
include a request to an employee of a public agency that a document be
prepared.

(d) If a public record contains material which is not subject to dis-
closure pursuant to this act, the public agency shall separate or delete
such material and make available to the requester that material in the
public record which is subject to disclosure pursuant to this act. If a public
record is not subject to disclosure because it pertains to an identifiable
individual, the public agency shall delete the identifying portions of the
record and make available to the requester any remaining portions which
are subject to disclosure pursuant to this act, unless the request is for a
record pertaining to a specific individual or to such a limited group of
individuals that the individuals’ identities are reasonably ascertainable, the
public agency shall not be required to disclose those portions of the record
which pertain to such individual or individuals.

(e) The provisions of this section shall not be construed to exempt
from public disclosure statistical information not descriptive of any iden-
tifiable person.

(f) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (a), any public rec-
ord which has been in existence more than 70 years shall be open for

45



Senate Substitute for HOUSE BILL No. 2052—page 11

inspection by any person unless disclosure of the record is specifically
prohibited or restricted by federal law, state statute or rule of the Kansas
supreme court or by a policy adopted pursuant to K.S.A. 72-6214, and
amendments thereto.

(g) Any confidential records or information relating to security meas-
ures provided or received under the provisions of subsection (a)(45) shall
not be subject to subpoena, discovery or other demand in any adminis-
trative, criminal or civil action.

Sec. 7. K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 75-7c05 is hereby amended to read as fol-
lows: 75-7c05. (a) The application for a license pursuant to this act shall
be completed, under oath, on a form prescribed by the attorney general
and shall only include:

(1) (A) Subject to the provisions of subsection (a)(1)(B), the name,
address, social security number, Kansas driver’s license number or Kansas
nondriver’s license identification number, place and date of birth, a pho-
tocopy of the applicant’s driver’s license or nondriver’s identification card
and a photocopy of the applicant’s certificate of training course comple-
tion; (B) in the case of an applicant who presents proof that such person
is on active duty with any branch of the armed forces of the United States,
or is the dependent of such a person, and who does not possess a Kansas
driver’s license or Kansas nondriver’s license identification, the number
of such license or identification shall not be required;

(2) a statement that the applicant is in compliance with criteria con-
tained within K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 75-7c04, and amendments thereto;

(3) a statement that the applicant has been furnished a copy of this
act and is knowledgeable of its provisions;

(4) a conspicuous warning that the application is executed under oath
and that a false answer to any question, or the submission of any false
document by the applicant, subjects the applicant to criminal prosecution
under K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 21-5903, and amendments thereto; and

(5) a statement that the applicant desires a concealed handgun license
as a means of lawful self-defense.

(b) The applicant shall submit to the sheriff of the county where the
applicant resides, during any normal business hours:

(1) A completed application described in subsection (a);
(2) except as provided by subsection (g), a nonrefundable license fee

of $132.50, if the applicant has not previously been issued a statewide
license or if the applicant’s license has permanently expired, which fee
shall be in the form of two cashier’s checks, personal checks or money
orders of $32.50 payable to the sheriff of the county where the applicant
resides and $100 payable to the attorney general;

(3) a photocopy of a certificate or an affidavit or document as de-
scribed in subsection (b) of K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 75-7c04, and amendments
thereto, or if applicable, of a license to carry a firearm as described in
subsection (d) of K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 75-7c03, and amendments thereto;
and

(4) a full frontal view photograph of the applicant taken within the
preceding 30 days.

(c) (1) The sheriff, upon receipt of the items listed in subsection (b)
of this section, shall provide for the full set of fingerprints of the applicant
to be taken and forwarded to the attorney general for purposes of a crim-
inal history records check as provided by subsection (d). In addition, the
sheriff shall forward to the attorney general a copy of the application and
the portion of the original license fee which is payable to the attorney
general. The cost of taking such fingerprints shall be included in the
portion of the fee retained by the sheriff. Notwithstanding anything in
this section to the contrary, an applicant shall not be required to submit
fingerprints for a renewal application under K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 75-7c08,
and amendments thereto.

(2) The sheriff of the applicant’s county of residence or the chief law
enforcement officer of any law enforcement agency, at the sheriff’s or
chief law enforcement officer’s discretion, may participate in the process
by submitting a voluntary report to the attorney general containing readily
discoverable information, corroborated through public records, which,
when combined with another enumerated factor, establishes that the ap-
plicant poses a significantly greater threat to law enforcement or the pub-
lic at large than the average citizen. Any such voluntary reporting shall

46



Senate Substitute for HOUSE BILL No. 2052—page 12

be made within 45 days after the date the sheriff receives the application.
Any sheriff or chief law enforcement officer submitting a voluntary report
shall not incur any civil or criminal liability as the result of the good faith
submission of such report.

(3) All funds retained by the sheriff pursuant to the provisions of this
section shall be credited to a special fund of the sheriff’s office which
shall be used solely for the purpose of administering this act.

(d) Each applicant shall be subject to a state and national criminal
history records check which conforms to applicable federal standards,
including an inquiry of the national instant criminal background check
system for the purpose of verifying the identity of the applicant and
whether the applicant has been convicted of any crime or has been the
subject of any restraining order or any mental health related finding that
would disqualify the applicant from holding a license under this act. The
attorney general is authorized to use the information obtained from the
state or national criminal history record check to determine the appli-
cant’s eligibility for such license.

(e) Within 90 days after the date of receipt of the items listed in
subsection (b), the attorney general shall:

(1) Issue the license and certify the issuance to the department of
revenue; or

(2) deny the application based solely on: (A) The report submitted
by the sheriff or other chief law enforcement officer under subsection
(c)(2) for good cause shown therein; or (B) the ground that the applicant
is disqualified under the criteria listed in K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 75-7c04, and
amendments thereto. If the attorney general denies the application, the
attorney general shall notify the applicant in writing, stating the ground
for denial and informing the applicant the opportunity for a hearing pur-
suant to the Kansas administrative procedure act.

(f) Each person issued a license shall pay to the department of rev-
enue a fee for the cost of the license which shall be in amounts equal to
the fee required pursuant to K.S.A. 8-243 and 8-246, and amendments
thereto, for replacement of a driver’s license.

(g) (1) A person who is a retired law enforcement officer, as defined
in K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 21-5111, and amendments thereto, shall be: (A)
Required to pay an original license fee of $75, which fee shall be in the
form of two cashier checks or money orders, $25 payable to the sheriff
of the county where the applicant resides and $50 payable to the attorney
general, as provided in subsection (b)(2), to be forwarded by the sheriff
to the attorney general; (B) exempt from the required completion of a
weapons handgun safety and training course if such person was certified
by the Kansas commission on peace officer’s standards and training, or
similar body from another jurisdiction, not more than eight years prior to
submission of the application; (C) required to pay the license renewal fee;
(D) required to pay to the department of revenue the fees required by
subsection (f); and (E) required to comply with the criminal history re-
cords check requirement of this section.

(2) Proof of retirement as a law enforcement officer shall be required
and provided to the attorney general in the form of a letter from the
agency head, or their designee, of the officer’s retiring agency that attests
to the officer having retired in good standing from that agency as a law
enforcement officer for reasons other than mental instability and that the
officer has a nonforfeitable right to benefits under a retirement plan of
the agency.

(h) A person who is a corrections officer, a parole officer or a correc-
tions officer employed by the federal bureau of prisons, as defined by
K.S.A. 75-5202, and amendments thereto, shall be: (1) Required to pay
an original license fee as provided in subsection (b)(2); (2) exempt from
the required completion of a handgun safety and training course if such
person was issued a certificate of firearms training by the department of
corrections or the federal bureau of prisons or similar body not more than
one year prior to submission of the application; (3) required to pay the
license renewal fee; (4) required to pay to the department of revenue the
fees required by subsection (f); and (5) required to comply with the crim-
inal history records check requirement of this section.

Sec. 8. K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 75-7c06 is hereby amended to read as fol-
lows: 75-7c06. (a) The attorney general shall be the official custodian of

47



Senate Substitute for HOUSE BILL No. 2052—page 13

all records relating to licenses issued pursuant to the personal and family
protection act.

(b) Except as provided by subsections (c) and (d), records relating to
persons issued licenses pursuant to this act, persons applying for licenses
pursuant to this act or persons who have had a license denied pursuant
to this act shall be confidential and shall not be disclosed in a manner
which enables identification of any such person pursuant to the Kansas
open records act. Any disclosure of a record in violation of this subsection
is a class A misdemeanor.

(c) Records of a person whose license has been suspended or revoked
pursuant to this act shall be subject to public inspection in accordance
with the open records act.

(d) The attorney general shall maintain an automated listing of license
holders and pertinent information, and such information shall be available
at all times to all law enforcement agencies in this state, other states and
the District of Columbia when requested for a legitimate law enforce-
ment purpose.

(e) Within 30 days after the changing of a permanent address, or
within 30 days after the discovery that a license has been lost or destroyed,
the licensee shall notify the attorney general of such change, loss or de-
struction. The attorney general, upon notice and opportunity for hearing
in accordance with the provisions of the Kansas administrative procedure
act, may order a licensee to pay a fine of not more than $100, or may
suspend the licensee’s license for not more than 180 days, for failure to
notify the attorney general pursuant to the provisions of this subsection.

(f) In the event that a concealed handgun license is lost or destroyed,
the license shall be automatically invalid, and the person to whom the
license was issued, upon payment of $15 to the attorney general, may
obtain a duplicate, or substitute thereof, upon furnishing a notarized
statement to the attorney general that such license has been lost or de-
stroyed.

Sec. 9. K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 75-7c10 is hereby amended to read as fol-
lows: 75-7c10. Subject to the provisions of section 2, and amendments
thereto:

(a) Provided that the premises are building is conspicuously posted in
accordance with rules and regulations adopted by the attorney general as
premises a building where carrying a concealed handgun is prohibited,
no license issued pursuant to or recognized by this act shall authorize the
licensee to carry a concealed handgun into the building of:

(1) Any place where an activity declared a common nuisance by
K.S.A. 22-3901, and amendments thereto, is maintained;

(2) any police, sheriff or highway patrol station;
(3) any detention facility, prison or jail;
(4) any courthouse, except that nothing in this section would preclude

a judge from carrying a concealed handgun or determining who may carry
a concealed handgun in the judge’s courtroom;

(5) any polling place on the day an election is held;
(6) any state office;
(7) any facility hosting an athletic event not related to or involving

firearms which is sponsored by a private or public elementary or second-
ary school or any private or public institution of postsecondary education;

(8) any facility hosting a professional athletic event not related to or
involving firearms;

(9) any drinking establishment as defined by K.S.A. 41-2601, and
amendments thereto;

(10) any elementary or secondary school, attendance center, admin-
istrative office, services center or other facility;

(11) any community college, college or university;
(12) any child exchange and visitation center provided for in K.S.A.

75-720, and amendments thereto;
(13) any community mental health center organized pursuant to

K.S.A. 19-4001 et seq., and amendments thereto; any mental health clinic
organized pursuant to K.S.A. 65-211 et seq., and amendments thereto;
any psychiatric hospital licensed under K.S.A. 75-3307b, and amendments
thereto; or a state psychiatric hospital, as follows: Larned state hospital,
Osawatomie state hospital or Rainbow mental health facility;

(14) any public library operated by the state;

48



Senate Substitute for HOUSE BILL No. 2052—page 14

(15) any day care home or group day care home, as defined in Kansas
administrative regulation 28-4-113, or any preschool or childcare center,
as defined in Kansas administrative regulation 28-4-420; or

(16) any place of worship any building.
(b) Nothing in this act shall be construed to prevent:
(1) Any public or private employer from restricting or prohibiting by

personnel policies persons licensed under this act from carrying a con-
cealed handgun while on the premises of the employer’s business or while
engaged in the duties of the person’s employment by the employer, ex-
cept that no employer may prohibit possession of a handgun in a private
means of conveyance, even if parked on the employer’s premises; or

(2) any private business or city, county or political subdivision from
restricting or prohibiting persons licensed or recognized under this act
from carrying a concealed handgun within a building or buildings of such
entity, provided that the premises are building is posted in accordance
with rules and regulations adopted by the attorney general pursuant to
subsection (f) (h), as premises a building where carrying a concealed
handgun is prohibited.

(c) (1) It shall be a violation of this section to carry a concealed hand-
gun in violation of any restriction or prohibition allowed by subsection (a)
or (b) if the premises are posted in accordance with rules and regulations
adopted by the attorney general pursuant to subsection (f). Any person
who violates this section shall be guilty of a misdemeanor punishable by
a fine of: (A) Not more than $50 for the first offense; or (B) not more
than $100 for the second offense. Any third or subsequent offense is a
class B misdemeanor.

Any private entity which provides adequate security measures in a
private building and which conspicuously posts signage in accordance
with this section prohibiting the carrying of a concealed handgun in such
building as authorized by the personal and family protection act shall not
be liable for any wrongful act or omission relating to actions of persons
licensed to carry a concealed handgun concerning acts or omissions re-
garding such handguns.

(2) Any private entity which does not provide adequate security
measures in a private building and which allows the carrying of a con-
cealed handgun as authorized by the personal and family protection act
shall not be liable for any wrongful act or omission relating to actions of
persons licensed to carry a concealed handgun concerning acts or
omissions regarding such handguns.

(3) Nothing in this act shall be deemed to increase the liability of any
private entity where liability would have existed under the personal and
family protection act prior to the effective date of this act.

(d) The governing body or the chief administrative officer, if no gov-
erning body exists, of any of the following institutions may permit any
employee, who is licensed to carry a concealed handgun as authorized by
the provisions of K.S.A. 75-7c01 et seq., and amendments thereto, to carry
a concealed handgun in any building of such institution, if the employee
meets such institution’s own policy requirements regardless of whether
such building is conspicuously posted in accordance with the provisions
of this section:

(1) A unified school district;
(2) a postsecondary educational institution, as defined in K.S.A. 74-

3201b, and amendments thereto;
(3) a state or municipal-owned medical care facility, as defined in

K.S.A. 65-425, and amendments thereto;
(4) a state or municipal-owned adult care home, as defined in K.S.A.

39-923, and amendments thereto;
(5) a community mental health center organized pursuant to K.S.A.

19-4001 et seq., and amendments thereto; or
(6) an indigent health care clinic, as defined by K.S.A. 2012 Supp.

65-7402, and amendments thereto.
(e) (1) It shall be a violation of this section to carry a concealed hand-

gun in violation of any restriction or prohibition allowed by subsection
(a) or (b) if the building is posted in accordance with rules and regulations
adopted by the attorney general pursuant to subsection (h). Any person
who violates this section shall not be subject to a criminal penalty but
may be subject to denial to such premises or removal from such premises.

(2) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (a) or (b), it is not

49



Senate Substitute for HOUSE BILL No. 2052—page 15

a violation of this section for the United States attorney for the district of
Kansas, the attorney general, any district attorney or county attorney, any
assistant United States attorney if authorized by the United States attor-
ney for the district of Kansas, any assistant attorney general if authorized
by the attorney general, or any assistant district attorney or assistant
county attorney if authorized by the district attorney or county attorney
by whom such assistant is employed, to possess a handgun within any of
the buildings described in subsection (a) or (b), subject to any restrictions
or prohibitions imposed in any courtroom by the chief judge of the judicial
district. The provisions of this paragraph shall not apply to any person
who is not in compliance with K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 75-7c19, and amend-
ments thereto.

(3) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (a) or (b), it is not
a violation of this section for a law enforcement officer from another state
or a retired law enforcement officer meeting the requirements of the fed-
eral law enforcement officers safety act, 18 U.S.C. §§ 926B and 926C, to
possess a handgun within any of the buildings described in subsection (a)
or (b), subject to any restrictions or prohibitions imposed in any court-
room by the chief judge of the judicial district.

(f) On and after July 1, 2014, provided that the provisions of section
3, and amendments thereto, are in full force and effect, the provisions of
this section shall not apply to the carrying of a concealed handgun in the
state capitol.

(d)(g) For the purposes of this section, :
(1) ‘‘Adequate security measures’’ shall have the same meaning as the

term is defined in section 2, and amendments thereto;
(2) ‘‘building’’ shall not include any structure, or any area of any struc-

ture, designated for the parking of motor vehicles.
(e)(h) Nothing in this act shall be construed to authorize the carrying

or possession of a handgun where prohibited by federal law.
(f)(i) The attorney general shall adopt rules and regulations prescrib-

ing the location, content, size and other characteristics of signs to be
posted on premises a building where carrying a concealed handgun is
prohibited pursuant to subsections (a) and (b). Such regulations shall
prescribe, at a minimum, that:

(1) The signs be posted at all exterior entrances to the prohibited
buildings;

(2) they the signs be posted at eye level of adults using the entrance
and not more than 12 inches to the right or left of such entrance;

(3) the signs not be obstructed or altered in any way; and
(4) signs which become illegible for any reason be immediately re-

placed.

Sec. 10. K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 75-7c17 is hereby amended to read as
follows: 75-7c17. (a) The legislature finds as a matter of public policy and
fact that it is necessary to provide statewide uniform standards for issuing
licenses to carry concealed handguns for self-defense and finds it neces-
sary to occupy the field of regulation of the bearing of concealed handguns
for self-defense to ensure that no honest, law-abiding person who quali-
fies under the provisions of this act is subjectively or arbitrarily denied
the person’s rights. No city, county or other political subdivision of this
state shall regulate, restrict or prohibit the carrying of concealed hand-
guns by persons licensed under this act except as provided in section 2,
and amendments thereto, and in subsection (b) of K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 75-
7c10, and amendments thereto, and subsection (f) of K.S.A. 21-4218,
prior to its repeal, or subsection (e) of K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 21-6309, and
amendments thereto. Any existing or future law, ordinance, rule, regu-
lation or resolution enacted by any city, county or other political subdi-
vision of this state that regulates, restricts or prohibits the carrying of
concealed handguns by persons licensed under this act except as provided
in section 2, and amendments thereto, and in subsection (b) of K.S.A.
2012 Supp. 75-7c10, and amendments thereto, and subsection (f) of
K.S.A. 21-4218, prior to its repeal, or subsection (e) of K.S.A. 2012 Supp.
21-6309, and amendments thereto, shall be null and void.

(b) Prosecution of any person licensed under the personal and family
protection act, and amendments thereto, for violating any restrictions on
licensees will be done through the district court.

(c) The legislature does not delegate to the attorney general the au-

50



Senate Substitute for HOUSE BILL No. 2052—page 16

thority to regulate or restrict the issuing of licenses provided for in this
act, beyond those provisions of this act pertaining to licensing and train-
ing. Subjective or arbitrary actions or rules and regulations which encum-
ber the issuing process by placing burdens on the applicant beyond those
sworn statements and specified documents detailed in this act or which
create restrictions beyond those specified in this act are in conflict with
the intent of this act and are prohibited.

(d) This act shall be liberally construed. This act is supplemental and
additional to existing constitutional rights to bear arms and nothing in this
act shall impair or diminish such rights.

Sec. 11. K.S.A. 2012 Supp. 21-6302, 21-6309, 45-221, 45-221j, 45-
221k, 75-7c05, 75-7c06, 75-7c10 and 75-7c17 are hereby repealed.

Sec. 12. This act shall take effect and be in force from and after its
publication in the statute book.

I hereby certify that the above BILL originated in the
HOUSE, and was adopted by that body

HOUSE adopted
Conference Committee Report

Speaker of the House.

Chief Clerk of the House.

Passed the SENATE

as amended

SENATE adopted
Conference Committee Report

President of the Senate.

Secretary of the Senate.

APPROVED

Governor.

51



Kansas Personal and Family Protection Act 
 

2013 Legislative Changes 
 

The 2013 Kansas Legislature enacted two bills that make significant changes to the Personal and 
Family Protection Act (“the Act”) and that affect the rights and responsibilities of concealed 
carry license (“CCL”) holders. 

 
Senate Bill 21, which was proposed by the Attorney General’s Office, makes numerous technical 
and conforming changes to the Act. One significant substantive change is the manner in which 
Kansas will recognize CCLs issued by other states and jurisdictions. 

 
House Bill 2052 makes numerous changes to the Act. One significant change is the law 
governing when state or municipal buildings may exclude CCL holders from carrying concealed 
handguns into the building. 

 
 

 

FREQUENTLY ASKED QUESTIONS 
 
SB 21 (L. 2013, ch. 36) 
 
 SB 21 amends K.S.A. §§ 12-16,124 (local regulation of firearms), 21-6304 (criminal 
possession of a firearm by a felon), 21-6614 (expungement of arrests, charges and convictions), 
75-7c03 (CCL recognition), 75-7c04 (licensing standards), 75-7c05 (CCL application process), 
75-7c07 (administration of licenses) and 75-7c25 (records of involuntary mental health 
commitments).  
 
Q: What does the amendment in Section 1 do?  
 
A: This amendment addresses K.S.A. 12-16,124(a) and 12-16,124(d) by cleaning up a reference 
in each to an old KPFPA statute (75-7c11) that was repealed in 2010. It also amends 12-
16,124(b)(2) and (b)(4) so that those protections are afforded to CCLs from other jurisdictions 
which are recognized by Kansas.1    
 
Q: I have an expunged felony conviction. Do the changes in Sections 2 and 3 of SB 21 mean 
that that expunged conviction cannot be used when reviewing my application? 
 
A: Generally, no. Prior felony convictions that occur in Kansas’ state court system result in four 
(4) categories of firearm prohibition periods in Kansas: lifetime (under subsection (a)(1)); a 10 
year prohibition for more serious person and drug felonies (under (a)(3)(A)) or for certain 

                                                 
1 See discussion of amendments to K.S.A. 75-7c03 below for updates to recognition in Kansas. 

52

dscheibler
Highlight

dscheibler
Highlight



nonperson felonies (under (a)(3)(B)); and a catch-all 5 year prohibition period under (a)(2) for 
any felony that does not fit subsections (a)(1) or (a)(3).2  
 
Under Kansas law, the general rule is that the expungement of a felony conviction will not sever 
any state or federal firearms prohibition.  The amendment in Section 2 to K.S.A. 21-6304 and the 
amendments to K.S.A. 21-6614 in Section 3 reiterate this point. They make it clear that the only 
time a firearms prohibition is severed by expungement (or pardon) of a prior felony is when that 
prior felony conviction falls into 21-6304(a)(3)(A). NOTE: The expungement of that felony will 
only sever any firearm’s restrictions for that felony; if the individual has other criminal history 
that resulted in a loss of firearm rights then that loss is not affected by the expungement. Some 
felony offenses listed in (a)(3)(A) are not expungeable, however. If you have felony criminal 
history, you need to consult with private legal counsel about your specific situation and discuss 
whether Kansas law allows you to possess firearms. 
 
Felony convictions that occurred in another state or in any federal court will have to survive the 
firearms expungement, set-aside, pardon or restoration procedures of that other jurisdiction and 
the restoration procedures of Kansas law under 21-6304 before the individual will be considered 
eligible to possess firearms in Kansas (and, therefore, be eligible for a CCL). 
 
Q: I live in another state and have a non-expired CCL from that State. Am I lawful to 
carry concealed handguns in Kansas? 
 
A: On and after July 1, 2013, Kansas will honor any “valid” concealed carry license that is 
issued by another state or the District of Columbia so long as the holder of that CCL is not a 
resident of Kansas. Section 4 of SB 21 amends K.S.A. 75-7c03 to allow this broader recognition. 
 
So long as the non-Kansas CCL is “valid” (defined as non-expired and not revoked or 
suspended) and so long as the holder is not a resident of Kansas, that non-Kansas CCL will be 
honored by Kansas.  
 
Q: I am moving to Kansas from another state and have a non-Kansas CCL. Can I continue 
to carry concealed using my non-Kansas CCL? 
 
A: By law, a resident of Kansas whose only authority to carry concealed comes through CCL 
must either have a Kansas CCL or fit the active duty military exception. For new residents to 
Kansas between July 1, 2010, and June 30, 2013, the Attorney General will issue a 90-day 
temporary receipt to that resident once they have submitted a Kansas CCL application which 
includes a copy of their valid non-Kansas CCL license which is currently honored by Kansas. 
 
On and after July 1, 2013, for new residents to Kansas (new as of July 1, 2010, and later), upon 
receiving a Kansas CCL application from that resident, which includes a copy of any valid non-
Kansas CCL, the Attorney General will issue a 180-day receipt to continue carrying while that 
application is pending. The Attorney General’s office will determine whether that applicant’s 

                                                 
2 Felony convictions that occur in another state must satisfy the restoration procedures from that state and Kansas; 
prior Federal felony convictions must satisfy any Federal restoration procedures as well as those time limits of 
Kansas law. 

53



non-Kansas CCL was issued after receiving training which was equal to or greater than the 
training imposed by Kansas law in order to receive a Kansas CCL. 
 

- If the non-Kansas CCL was issued after receiving equal to or greater training 
compared to Kansas law, then the applicant will not have to complete the Kansas 
training course in order to become approved; 
 

- If the non-Kansas CCL was issued after receiving no training or training that was not 
equal to or greater than that of Kansas, then the individual will have until the 
expiration of their 180-day receipt to complete the Kansas training course. If the 
applicant fails to complete the Kansas training before the expiration of their 180-day 
receipt, their application will be denied. 

 
Q: If my current non-Kansas CCL did not require any training or my training was not 
equal to or greater than Kansas’ CCL training, do I have to take the Kansas training 
course before applying? 
 
A: No. Simply follow the directions for supplying a completed application (minus the Kansas 
training certificate) through the sheriff of your county of residence and the Attorney General’s 
office will the send you a 180-day receipt that will enable you to continue carrying while you 
locate a Kansas training course to take during that 180 days. Be sure you attach a copy of your 
valid non-Kansas CCL to the application. If, however, you fail to submit that Kansas training 
certificate before the expiration of your 180-day receipt, your application will be denied. 
 
Q: I have a non-Kansas CCL that did not require any training, but I keep up with my 
marksmanship regularly at the range and I’ve taken some other trainings since then. Can 
those trainings be used to bypass the Kansas training? 
 
A: The training used to bypass the Kansas training must have been used to obtain the non-Kansas 
CCL for which the applicant is relying upon. If the training occurred after that license’s issuance, 
it will not be considered for the Kansas license. 
 
Q: I believe my prior non-Kansas CCL training will meet the equal to or greater than 
standard. What do I need to do when applying for the Kansas CCL? 
 
A: Attach copies of the training certificate and all documentation you have which will show the 
nature of the training you completed (i.e., the topics covered and the live-fire demonstration). 
Providing the Attorney General’s office more information to review ahead of time should help 
reduce the review time for the application. NOTE: Some of the more popular training courses, 
such as the NRA Basic Pistol course, will not need extra documents submitted with that training 
certificate as the course requirements for those courses are readily known or locatable. However, 
a course which is less widely known may require more documents to show the course’s 
framework.  
 
  

54



Q: Because Kansas now recognizes all CCL licenses and permits for non-residents, if I 
move to Kansas will my non-Kansas CCL be proof of training? 
 
A: Not necessarily. On and after July 1, 2013, the training used to obtain the non-Kansas CCL 
will be reviewed to determine whether that previous training was “equal to or greater than” that 
required by Kansas concealed carry law. Some states require no training at all and some states 
have training standards that may or may not meet those of Kansas. 
 
The Attorney General was given the discretion to compile a list of states whose training would 
meet this equal to or greater than standard or review each application on a case by case basis. 
Irrespective of what a state requires by law, the Attorney General’s office will review the 
training that the applicant actually received to determine that qualification. The Attorney 
General’s office understands that a state’s concealed carry law may not require an applicant to 
demonstrate handgun proficiency during training – but the applicant may have done such a 
demonstration during their training and the Attorney General’s office does not want to discount 
that. 
 
Q: If it takes me almost the entire 180 days to get a Kansas training certificate to the 
Attorney General’s office, will my 180-day receipt be extended while application finishes 
the review process? 
 
A: No. Once the 180-day receipt expires, there is no extension. This is why it is important to get 
the Kansas training done as soon as possible in order to avoid any periods where you will not be 
able to lawfully carry.  
  
Q: In my prior state of residence, my position as a certified law enforcement officer 
enabled me to bypass the Kansas training course. Is there a similar allowance for a Kansas 
CCL? 
 
A:  There are several points to cover here, but the short answer is “no.”  
 
“Law enforcement officers” in Kansas do not need a Kansas CCL in order to carry a concealed 
firearm. However, if they desire a CCL, then the law currently requires them to complete the 
concealed carry training course as well. There are a couple of exceptions to this general rule.  

 
If you can produce proof, by letter from your former agency, that you retired from your 
law enforcement agency for reasons other than mental instability and are otherwise in 
compliance with K.S.A. 75-7c05(g), and amendments thereto, then you qualify for a 
training course bypass; or 
 
If you are a “corrections officer, a parole officer or a corrections officer employed by the 
federal bureau of prisons” and you can produce proof that you last completed a 
Department of Corrections or Bureau of Prisons firearms qualification from the past year 
– then you are exempt from the Kansas training course. If your DOC or BOP firearms 
qualification was more than one year ago, and you do not qualify for the exception above, 
you will need to take the Kansas training course. 

55



If you have further questions after reading the above, send the Concealed Carry Licensing Unit 
an email to ksagcc@ksag.org and staff will respond as quickly as possible to your questions. 
 
S. Sub for HB 2052 (L. 2013, ch. 105)

3
 

 
Q: What does the language of HB 2052, section 2, set out to do? 
 
A: The general rule of Section 2 is that on and after July 1, 2013, any “state or municipal 
building” must have “adequate security measures” in place to prevent any weapon from entering 
the building and properly post Attorney General-approved signage if that state or municipal 
building desires to restrict the licensed concealed carry of handguns within its walls.  
 
 NOTE: There are exceptions and exemptions to this general rule. 
 
Q: Who does this general rule affect? 
 
A: In a broad sense, this section affects any “state or municipal building;” and it affects those 
who are authorized to carry a concealed handgun under the Kansas Personal and Family 
Protection Act.  
 
Q: Who does this general rule not affect? 
 
A: The general rule will have no effect on the buildings of private businesses – even if the 
building is one that is state-owned or municipally-owned and leased by a private business. Any 
building that is held by the state or a municipality for revenue bond financing is likewise exempt 
from coverage as a “state or municipal building.” 
  
Also not affected by this section are: Kansas schools for the deaf and blind; the secure areas of 
any buildings for a correctional facility, jail facility or a law enforcement agency; and 
courtrooms where the chief judge of the judicial district has prohibited firearms (provided there 
are other means of security available – such as armed security or law enforcement). 
 
The last group of unaffected state or municipal buildings will be those that would ordinarily 
qualify under the act but which exercise one of three allowed exemptions. Those exemptions are 
found under subsections (i) and (j) of Section 2.   
 

Q: If we are not an automatically exempted building, where can we find the exemptions 
available to us in the law? 
 
A: The Legislature has offered three exemptions but not all three are available to all “state or 
municipal buildings.” These exemptions within Section 2 will enable exempted buildings to 
refrain from installing “adequate security measures,” if they choose, for a maximum of four and 
one-half years in some instances while still prohibiting concealed carry licensees from carrying 
handguns into the building.  

                                                 
3 Session law reference to ch 105 is subject to change as directed by the Kansas Secretary of State’s office. 

56

mailto:ksagcc@ksag.org
dscheibler
Highlight



There is a general six-month exemption available to any Section 2-covered state or municipal 
building. This exemption is found under Section 2(i) and it will run from July 1, 2013, through 
December 31, 2013. 
 
There is a four-year exemption for specifically enumerated buildings found under Section 2(j). 
 
And there is a catch-all four year exemption for any other qualified state or municipal building 
also found under Section 2(i).   
 
Q: We are the governing body (or I am the chief administrative officer) of a state or 
municipal building that is not automatically exempted from this Section. How do we (I) 
seek an exemption from this law until we’ve had a better opportunity to review it and the 
effects it might have? 
 
A: This answer will depend on what date the question is being asked and which exemption your 
building’s management is entitled to ask for. 
 
If you are wanting to exercise the 2013 six-month exemption (good through December 31, 2013) 
from Section 2(i), then your building’s governing body or, if no governing body exists, chief 
administrative officer can submit a letter exercising the exemption to the Attorney General’s 
Concealed Carry Unit and a letter exercising the exemption to the law enforcement agency of 
local jurisdiction. No further information (security plans, reasons etc.) are required for this 
exemption. 
 
If you are a building that falls under those specified in Section 2(j) and you are seeking to 
institute the four year exemption at any point, then the governing body (or chief administrative 
officer if no governing body exists) is required to submit a letter exercising that exemption to the 
Attorney General (no letter to the law enforcement agency of local jurisdiction is required by 
statute – but may be beneficial regardless in the sense of Notice to that agency). Included within 
that letter must be stated the reasons why the exemption is being exercised.  
 
 NOTE: The buildings specified in 2(j) are: 

- state or municipal-owned medical care facilities, defined under K.S.A. 65-425;  
- state or municipal-owned adult care homes, defined by K.S.A. 39-923;  
- community mental health center organized under 19-4001 et seq;  
- indigent health care clinics defined by 65-7402; and  
- postsecondary educational institutions as defined by 74-3201b (including buildings 

that are leased by the institution). 
 
On and after January 1, 2014, if you oversee a state or municipal building (again, as a governing 
body or, where no governing body exists, the chief administrative officer) other than those 
specified under Section 2(j) and it is determined that the four year exemption under 2(i) will be 
exercised, then you must: 
 

- provide a letter of the exemption (via resolution or letter) to the Attorney General and 
law enforcement agency of local jurisdiction; 

57



- include a legal description of the building(s) being exempted; 
- include the reasons for seeking the exemption; and 
- include the following statement: “A security plan has been developed for the building 

being exempted which supplies adequate security to the occupants of the building and 
merits the prohibition of the carrying of a concealed handgun as authorized by the 
personal and family protection act.” 

- Make a copy of the security plan(s) available to local law enforcement or the 
Attorney General’s office upon request. DO NOT mail a copy of the security plan to 
the Attorney General’s office with your four-year exemption letter. 
 

Q: Once the four-year exemption is coming to an end, how can we renew the exemption? 
 
A: Under the current language of the law, the four year exemptions were only allowed for a one-
time use. After the four years has run, the buildings will either need to allow licensed concealed 
carry or have adequate security measures and proper signage in place. 
 
Q: Who can submit an exemption notice? 
 
A: By statute, the exemption request must come from the governing body of the state or 
municipal building. If no governing body exists for that building, then the chief administrative 
officer for the building must submit the exemption notice. 
 

Q: How long does the exemption review process take? 
 
A: There is no review process. Exemptions are not “granted” or “denied” as no authority to do so 
was provided in the statute. The Attorney General will return a file stamped copy of the 
exemption letter to acknowledge its receipt. If the exemption appears to be missing any 
information (particularly with regard to the 2(i) four-year exemptions where more information is 
required), the Attorney General may include a letter of response which explains that the Attorney 
General’s office believes the exemption to be deficient. Ultimately, however, it will be up to the 
exercising body or administrative officer to make sure that the exemption exercised was done so 
in accordance with the statutory guidelines of Section 2.  
 
Q: Within the four-year exemption of Section 2(i), the required statement mandates that a 
security plan be “developed” – are there any guidelines for what the security plan should 
entail? 
 
A: No. The term “security plan” was not a defined term within the act. The only guidance given 
by the Legislature is that the security plan must supply “adequate security to the occupants of the 
building.”  
 
  

58



Q: Does the fact that the security plan has to have been developed mean that the security 
plan must be active at the point of requesting an exemption? 
 
A: Yes. The four-year exemption in Section 2(i) cannot be sought to further develop a security 
plan for the building. It must provide “adequate security to the occupants of the building” at the 
time the exemption is requested. 
 
Q: Within Section 2(i)’s statement for the security plan, what is meant by “adequate 
security” for the building’s occupants – does “adequate security” equal the definition of 
“adequate security measures?” 
 
A: The Legislature did not provide a separate definition for what constitutes “adequate security” 
and it was not defined under Section 2(i) to mean the same as “adequate security measures.” If 
exercising a security plan that has “adequate security” for the building’s occupants is equal to 
having “adequate security measures” then there would be no need for the exemption; the 
Legislature would essentially be requiring the building to have “adequate security measures” in 
place before the building could exempt itself from having to install “adequate security 
measures.”  
 
Q: Does a copy of the “security plan” need to be attached to the 2(i) four-year exemption 
request? 
 
A: No. The security plan needs to be maintained on file in case the Attorney General or law 
enforcement agency of local jurisdiction should request it for review. 
 
Q: If a member of the public wishes to examine the security plan that was declared in the 
2(i) exemption request, do they have a right to see it? 
 
A: No. Per Section 2(i), the security plan itself is not a record subject to the Kansas Open 
Records Act. 
 
Q: If a building(s) has elected to exercise one of the allowed exemptions, what effect does 
that have for licensees carrying concealed into that building? 
 
A: Licensed concealed carry could be restricted through the proper posting of Attorney General-
approved signage at all entrances to the building(s) and the building would not be required to 
have adequate security measures in place. Essentially, most concealed carry law would remain as 
it was pre-July 1, 2013. 
  

NOTE: K.S.A. 75-7c10 was amended in other ways during the 2013 session, including a 
revision to the penalty section. That new penalty section would still be effective even if 
the building has exempted itself. The penalty for violating 75-7c10 would not revert back 
to its misdemeanor position of pre-July 1, 2013. 

 
  

59



Q: Will the Attorney General be maintaining a complete list of the buildings that have 
given Notice of exemption? 
 
A: No. There is no statutory directive to compile or publish this information. 
 
Q: If the Attorney General is not maintaining a list of the exempt buildings, how do 
licensees know whether or not a state or municipal building has sought exemption? 
 
A: On and after July 1, 2013, the original Attorney General-approved signage for buildings to 
restrict licensed concealed carry will be insufficient postings for state and municipal buildings 
who have exempted themselves from having “adequate security measures.” The Attorney 
General’s Office has designed a new sign by temporary regulation for state or municipal 
buildings that exempt themselves from the provisions of Section 2. The new signage includes 
specific text and will need to be displayed at all of the buildings’ entrances. 
 

Q: If we choose to allow concealed carry within our buildings without the “adequate 
security measures” in place, and later determine that we would like to exempt the 
buildings, will that be allowed? 
 
A: As the law stands, the language would not prevent such a procedure. Again, the four-year 
exemption is currently a one-time use. 
  
Q: I am a CCL holder who works in a qualifying state or municipal building. If my 
building does not put adequate security measures in place and the building does not 
exercise an exemption from Section 2, can I carry while I’m at work? 
 
A: Yes. Section 2(c) states that adequate security measures and signage are necessary in order to 
“prohibit” an employee from carrying on and after July 1, 2013. 
 

NOTE: Again, if the building has exempted itself, then the law largely reverts back to its 
pre-July 1, 2013 position and K.S.A. 75-7c10(b) language relating to employer/employee 
relations would still be in effect. 

 

Q: I am a CCL holder who works in a qualifying state or municipal building. My building 
has put in place “adequate security measures” and posted the public entrances with 
Attorney General-approved signage. But I am able to access my building through private 
access entry – am I still allowed to carry concealed while at work? 
 
A: Maybe. The answer will depend upon whether your employer has authorized you, as an 
employee, to carry concealed or whether the employer has a policy against employees carrying 
concealed in the building.  
 
If the latter is the employer’s position, then the answer to this question is that, under Section 
2(d), it is not a violation of the Act for you to carry concealed into such a building. However, 
other laws or actions may be applicable to you. An employee-licensee should consider consulting 
with private legal counsel about their legal rights in that scenario. 

60



Q: Same as above, except the employee-licensee does not have restricted access entrance to 
the adequately secured and properly posted building? 
 
A: Again, such an employee may be allowed by the employer to carry concealed in certain 
situations but here, absent that authorization, the licensee violates the Act and, again, other laws 
or actions may be applicable. Again, consult private legal counsel to know your full, personal 
legal rights in that situation.  
 

Q: I was reading through the provisions of HB 2052, and I see under Section 9, which 
addresses K.S.A. 75-7c10, that statute still says an employer can restrict my ability to carry 
concealed while I’m engaged in the duties of my employment. Does 75-7c10 or Section 2 
control these restrictions? 
 
A: For state or municipal buildings, Section 2 controls. As is clearly spelled out in Section 9, 
K.S.A. 75-7c10 was amended there so that the entirety of that statute will be subject to Section 2 
on and after July 1, 2013. Any employer/employee restrictions will have to comply with Section 
2 at that point in time – unless an exemption (granted by the Legislature or exercised by the state 
or municipal building’s management) applies. For any other employer/employee scenario – 
K.S.A. 75-7c10 controls. 
 
Q: What are “adequate security measures?” 
 
A: By definition within Section 2, “adequate security measures” involves “the use of electronic 
equipment and personnel at public entrances to detect and restrict the carrying of any weapons 
into the state or municipal building, including, but not limited to, metal detectors, metal detector 
wands or any other equipment used for similar purposes to ensure that weapons are not permitted 
to be carried into such building by members of the public.”  
 
Q: Does the building have to provide secure storage for weapons that are discovered during 
screening? 
 
A: No. Storage is not required, but it is allowed. 
 

Q: Do all entrances of a qualifying state or municipal building have to have “adequate 
security measures” in place in order to restrict licensed concealed carry? 
 
A: No, but all public access entrances do under Section 2(b). If other entrances are “restricted 
access entrances” then those entrances are not required to have “adequate security measures.” 
 
Q: Is the State Capitol building now accessible for those authorized to carry concealed 
under the KPFPA? 
 
A: No. However, between June 1, 2014, and June 30, 2014, the legislative coordinating council 
will review the security position of the Capitol building and, if “adequate security measures” are 
not in place by that point in time, CCL holders will be allowed within the Kansas Capitol 
building. 

61



Q: I am an individual who is carrying concealed under the authority of the Law 
Enforcement Officer’s Safety Act (LEOSA). Am I allowed to carry concealed into buildings 
restrict concealed carry under the KPFPA? 
 
A: As of July 1, 2013, LEOSA carry in Kansas will be more broadly recognized in Kansas. See 
HB 2052, Sections 4, 5 and 9. 
 

NOTE: LEOSA carry could still be limited in buildings where metal detectors and 
personnel are employed to detect weapons. The provisions of Section 2 only apply to 
licensed concealed carry pursuant to the Personal and Family Protection Act, but other 
adequately secured buildings may have complete weapons bans except those carried by 
their own personnel. 
 

Q: What other changes did HB 2052 bring about related to concealed carry in Kansas? 
 
A: Under Section 5, K.S.A. 21-6309 is amended in several respects. First, under subsection (a), 
some language was clarified about those places that are off-limits to firearms. Second, former 
subsection (c)(5) is removed and is now found in a modified form under new subsection (e). This 
new language eliminates some prior limitations that applied to CCL holders while at the 
Governor’s residence, grounds of the Governor’s residence, etc. Third, in subsection (f) some 
clerical changes were made to the statute to remove the terms “facility” or “facilities” and 
instead refer to “building” or “buildings.” And, finally, in the definitions for 21-6309(g), 
“adequate security measures” is now defined by reference to the definition found in Section 2. 
 
Under Section 6 of the Bill, the Kansas Open Records Act was amended by adding a new 
paragraph (53) in subsection (a). This section states that “records of a public agency that would 
disclose the name, home address, zip code, e-mail address, phone number or cell phone number 
or other contact information for any person licensed to carry concealed handguns or of any 
person who enrolled in or completed any weapons training in order to be licensed or has made 
application for such license under the personal and family protection act,…” are protected 
information that are not subject to disclosure by the agency unless otherwise required by law. 
 
Retired Law Enforcement Officers: In Section 7, K.S.A. 75-7c05 is amended in several ways. 
First, as of July 1, 2013, all CCL applicants will pay the full application fee of $132.50 ($32.50 
to the County sheriff where they reside and they will pay $100.00 to the Attorney General). This 
will affect those who are applying as retired law enforcement officers. Other fees will be 
required, such as the training course and getting the actual license card issued through the DMV. 
 
The other manner in which K.S.A. 75-7c05 was modified in HB 2052 is that qualified 
corrections officers, parole officers or a corrections officer employed by the federal Bureau of 
Prisons will be exempted from taking the Kansas training course if they were last firearm 
certified by the Department of Corrections or federal Bureau of Prisons (or similar body from 
another jurisdiction) within the past year.  
 
Section 8 amends K.S.A. 75-7c06 to simply reflect the modifications made within the Kansas 
Open Records Act as spelled out under HB 2052, Section 6.  

62



 
Section 9 amends K.S.A. 75-7c10, making the entire statute is subject to Section 2. Next, the 
previously listed locations of subsection (a) were removed and the prior bright-line rule of being 
able to post Attorney General-approved signage on “buildings” is made even brighter. 
 
One substantive change made by HB 2052 is that licensees will no longer be subject to a 
criminal penalty for simply carrying past a properly posted Attorney General-approved sign. The 
licensee will be subject to denial of entry or removal from the building. If licensees fail to 
comply with removal commands, a “criminal trespass” charge may apply. In other words, if you 
carry past a properly posted Attorney General-approved sign, and are asked to leave the premises 
– do so. 

 
Under subsection (c), the Legislature sought to include some liability protections for private 
businesses. Those are when: (1) the business complied with adequate security measures and 
posted signage; or (2) allows licensed concealed carry into the building. The Legislature also 
included language stating the act is not meant to increase liabilities as they exist under the 
personal and family protection act. 

  
New subsection (d) allows various entities (including K-12 school districts and postsecondary 
education institutions) the option of allowing staff to carry within their buildings even if 
Attorney General-approved signage is properly posted on the building(s). And finally, a new 
reference to the state capitol building is added in new subsection (f). 
 
Finally, Section 10 of HB 2052 amends K.S.A. 75-7c17 to reflect the new provisions of Section 
2. 

63



 

October 23, 2013 
 
 
ATTORNEY GENERAL OPINION NO. 2013- 14  
 
Michael A. Montoya 
Saline County Counselor 
256 S. Santa Fe Ave. 
Salina, KS 67402-1220 
 
Re: State Departments; Public Officers and Employees‒Firearms‒Personal 

and Family Protection Act 
 
Synopsis: For the purposes of the Personal and Family Protection Act (PFPA), a 

“state or municipal building” does not include a single floor within a county 
courthouse. A county may restrict the carrying of firearms into a county 
courthouse only by providing adequate security measures at the public 
entrances to the courthouse and by posting the courthouse as prohibiting 
the concealed carry of handguns in accordance with the PFPA and 
regulations promulgated by the Attorney General. The chief judge of a 
judicial district may prohibit the carrying of concealed handguns into 
courtrooms or ancillary courtrooms within the district provided that other 
means of security are employed.  

 
 “Adequate security measures” and “adequate security” are not 

synonymous for the purposes of K.S.A. 2013 Supp. 75-7c20. Cited herein: 
K.S.A. 2013 Supp. 75-7c01; 75-7c10; 75-7c20; K.A.R. 16-11-7. 

 
 

* * * 
 
Dear Mr. Montoya: 
 
As Saline County Counselor, you request our opinion whether Saline County may 
restrict the concealed carry of handguns into part, but not all, of the Saline County 
courthouse. You also ask whether the terms “adequate security” and “adequate security 

64



Michael A. Montoya 
Page 2 

 
measures” are synonymous for the purposes of the Personal and Family Protection Act 
(PFPA).1 
 

Prohibiting Weapons on One Floor of a Municipal Building 
 
Your first question involves several provisions of the PFPA. First, K.S.A. 2013 Supp. 75-
7c20(a) states: 
 

The carrying of a concealed handgun as authorized by the personal and 
family protection act shall not be prohibited in any state or municipal 
building unless such building has adequate security measures to ensure 
that no weapons are permitted to be carried into such building and the 
building is conspicuously posted in accordance with K.S.A. 75–7c10, and 
amendments thereto. 

 
“State or municipal building” is defined as: 
 

[A] building owned or leased by such public entity. It does not include a 
building owned by the state or a municipality which is leased by a private 
entity whether for profit or not-for-profit or a building held in title by the 
state or a municipality solely for reasons of revenue bond financing.2 

 
In your letter, you state that the Saline County courthouse currently is posted as 
prohibiting concealed carry. You further state that only the third floor of the courthouse 
has electronic equipment and security personnel to detect and restrict the entry of all 
weapons on that floor. Public visitors may only access the third floor through elevators, 
and must pass through security upon exiting the elevator. 
 
You ask whether the courthouse may allow concealed carry on the other floors but 
continue to restrict all weapons on the third floor. In other words, you ask whether the 
third floor of the Saline County courthouse may be considered a separate “building” for 
the purposes of the PFPA. 
 
We note that the term “building” itself is not defined in the PFPA, so we ascertain its 
meaning from its ordinary definition.3 One ordinary definition of a building is “a structure 
with a roof and walls, such as a house or factory.”4 Another ordinary definition is “a 
relatively permanent enclosed construction over a plot of land, having a roof and usually 
windows and often more than one level, used for any of a wide variety of activities, as 
living, entertaining, or manufacturing.”5 Based upon these definitions, it is our opinion 
                                                           
1 K.S.A. 2013 Supp. 75-7c01 et seq. 
2 K.S.A. 2013 Supp. 75-7c20(l)(5)(A). 
3 “In the absence of a statutory or common-law definition of [a phrase], this court will employ the ordinary 
meaning of the words used by the legislature.” State v. Taylor, 27 Kan. App. 2d 539, 541 (2000). 
4 “Building.” Oxford Dictionaries. Oxford University Press.  
  http://oxforddictionaries.com/definition/english/building (accessed on August 21, 2013). 
5 “Building.” Dictionary.com. Dictionary.com Unabridged. Random House, Inc.  
http://dictionary.reference.com/browse/building (accessed on August 21, 2013). 

65



Michael A. Montoya 
Page 3 

 
that the Saline County courthouse as a whole is a building for the purposes of K.S.A. 
2013 Supp. 75-7c20. However, a single floor within a courthouse cannot be reasonably 
defined as a “building” because the ordinary definition of “building” includes all floors 
within the building. 
 
Because the Saline County courthouse is a municipal building as defined in the PFPA, 
the county may restrict the concealed carry of handguns into the courthouse only by 
providing adequate security measures at public entrances to the courthouse and 
posting signs in accordance with the PFPA and regulations promulgated by the Attorney 
General.6 However, the chief judge of each judicial district may prohibit the carrying of a 
concealed handgun by any person into courtrooms or ancillary courtrooms within the 
district “provided that other means of security are employed such as armed law 
enforcement or armed security officers.”7  
 

Adequate Security vs. Adequate Security Measures 
 
We now turn to your second question. K.S.A. 2013 Supp. 75-7c20(i) states that the 
governing body or chief administrative officer of a municipal building may exempt such 
building from the provisions of K.S.A. 2013 Supp. 75-7c20 for a period of four years 
beginning January 1, 2014, by adopting a resolution or drafting a letter with the following 
statement: “A security plan has been developed for the building being exempted which 
supplies adequate security to the occupants of the building and merits the prohibition of 
the carrying of a concealed handgun as authorized by the personal and family 
protection act.”  
 
Although “adequate security” is not defined by statute, K.S.A. 2013 Supp. 75-7c20(l)(1) 
defines “adequate security measures” as follows: 
 

“Adequate security measures” means the use of electronic equipment and 
personnel at public entrances to detect and restrict the carrying of any 
weapons into the state or municipal building, including, but not limited to, 
metal detectors, metal detector wands or any other equipment used for 
similar purposes to ensure that weapons are not permitted to be carried 
into such building by members of the public. Adequate security measures 
for storing and securing lawfully carried weapons, including, but not limited 
to, the use of gun lockers or other similar storage options may be provided 
at public entrances. 

 
You ask whether the phrase “adequate security” referred to in K.S.A. 2013 Supp. 75-
7c20(i) has the same meaning as “adequate security measures.” 
 

It is presumed the legislature understood the meaning of the words it used 
and intended to use them; that the legislature used the words in their 
ordinary and common meaning; and that the legislature intended a 

                                                           
6 See K.S.A. 75-7c10(i) and K.A.R. 16-11-7. 
7 K.S.A. 2013 Supp. 75-7c20(h). 

66



Michael A. Montoya 
Page 4 

 
different meaning when it used different language in the same connection 
in different parts of a statute.8  

  
Following this rule of statutory construction, we note that the legislature chose not to 
use the defined term “adequate security measures” as part of the statement that must 
be included in a resolution or letter claiming the four-year exemption from the provisions 
of K.S.A. 2013 Supp. 75-7c20. In addition, we note that the statement about “adequate 
security” is required to obtain a four-year exemption, but no exemption is necessary if 
the building provides “adequate security measures.” Therefore, the terms “adequate 
security” and “adequate security measures” cannot be synonymous.  
 
Instead, “adequate security” must be construed according to its ordinary meaning. The 
ordinary meaning of “adequate” is “satisfactory or acceptable in quality or quantity.”9 
Thus, whether security is “adequate” must be determined on a case-by-case basis for 
each building. 
 
 
 
 Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 Derek Schmidt 
 Attorney General 
 
 
 
 Sarah Fertig 
 Assistant Attorney General 
 
 
DS:AA:SF:sb 

                                                           
8 Rogers v. Shanahan, 221 Kan. 223-24 (1976). 
9 “Adequate.” Oxford Dictionaries. Oxford University Press.  
  http://oxforddictionaries.com/definition/english/adequate (accessed on October 1, 2013). 

67



68



 

 
Concealed Carry Briefing 

 
The Legislature passed and Governor Brownback signed HB 2052 which authorizes the carrying of 
concealed weapons in state and municipal buildings.  The following is a summary of the key elements 
of that bill. 
 
Effective Date: July 1, 2013.  However, if your city would like time to assess your buildings and make 
specific determinations, you can simply send a letter to the Attorney General and local law 
enforcement.  In that case, you will have until January 1, 2014 to make such determinations.  While 
there is no deadline specified regarding the submission of this letter, you must do so by July 1, 2013, 
in order to prevent the law from going into effect in your city.  A sample letter can be found at 
http://www.lkm.org/legislative/briefings/concealedcarry/exemption2052letter.doc. 
 
Applies to: The State (with certain exceptions) and municipalities.  It does not include school 
districts. 
 
Possible Outcomes: Under the provisions of this bill, cities will have the following choices: 
 
 1. Remove your no-carry signs and allow concealed carry in your municipal buildings; 
 2. Provide metal detectors or wands and personnel at each public entrance.  Cities can 

then post the building as no-carry. 
 3. Assess your buildings and establish a security plan for the buildings.  In this case, the 

buildings will be eligible for a 4-year exemption from the law. The City of Wichita and 
Sedgwick County recently completed such an assessment.  The model for the City of 
Wichita and Sedgwick County is available here: 
http://www.lkm.org/legislative/briefings/concealedcarry/WichitaSGCountyModel.pdf 

 
Liability: Public entities will be exempted from liability for the actions or omissions of concealed carry 
permit holders if: 
 
 1. The entity provides door security and posts the building as no-carry or 
 2. The entity allows concealed carry in their buildings. 
 
Exemption: The Legislature has provided for a 4-year exemption if the public entity establishes a 
security plan and adopts a resolution to exempt certain buildings from the requirements of the act.  
Such resolution shall include the following statement:  “A security plan has been developed for the 
building being exempted which supplies adequate security to the occupants of the building and merits 
the prohibition of the carrying of a concealed handgun as authorized by the personal and family 
protection act.”  The security plan may be developed by the police chief. 
 
A copy of the security plan shall be maintained on file.  Notice of the exemption, together with the 
resolution, shall be sent to the Kansas Attorney General and to the law enforcement agency of local 
jurisdiction.  Security plans are not subject to KORA. 
 

69



Employees: Cities may restrict or prohibit the carrying of concealed handguns by their employees 
while on their premises or while engaged in their official duties if the city does so through their 
personnel policies. Failure to adopt such restrictions in personnel policies will allow public employees 
to carry concealed handguns in public buildings and while engaged in their duties. 
 
 

70



CITY OF HAYS 
AGENDA ITEM COVER SHEET 

 
 

             COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM NO. 7  MEETING DATE: 12-12-13 
 
 
TOPIC:  
 
41st Street Construction – Award of Bid and Construction Engineering Agreement  
 
ACTION REQUESTED: 
 
Authorize the Mayor to sign the resolution from KDOT authorizing the commitment of City funds 
awarding a contract to APAC-Kansas, Inc for the reconstruction of 41st Street, and to sign the three-
party agreement with KDOT and Alfred Benesch & Company for Construction Engineering Inspection for 
the reconstruction of 41st Street.   
 
The City share to be paid to KDOT is $798,000 from the Capital Projects Fund. 
 
NARRATIVE: 
 
Residents of Hays have long anticipated the reconstruction of 41st Street.  Since 2008, City Staff has been 
working with KDOT and engineering consultants on the design of the project.  Bids were recently opened at 
KDOT, and APAC-Kansas, Inc. of Hays is the low bidder.  In addition, KDOT has provided a three party 
agreement for Construction Engineering Inspection Services.  The agreement between the City, KDOT and 
Alfred Benesch & Company details the consultants scope of work and responsibilities as it relates to the 
Project.  KDOT administers the contract and makes the payments to the consultant.  The City’s share for 
both construction and inspection is estimated to be $798,000.  KDOT has asked for a resolution committing 
the City’s share of the funding in the amount of $798,000 and authority to award the bid to APAC.  The 
City’s share of the cost is funded from Capital Projects. 
 
PERSON/STAFF MEMBER(S) MAKING PRESENTATION:  
 
Toby Dougherty, City Manager 
I.D. Creech, Director of Public Works 
 
ADMINISTRATION RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Staff recommends directing the Mayor to sign the resolution from KDOT authorizing the commitment of City 
funds awarding a contract to APAC-Kansas, Inc, and to sign the three-party agreement with KDOT and Alfred 
Benesch & Company for Construction Engineering Inspection for the reconstruction of 41st Street.    
    
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION(S): 
 
NA 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Staff Memo  
KDOT Authority to Award Letter 
KDOT Resolution 
KDOT Project Cost Summary Sheet 
2013 CIP Budget Project Data Sheet 
KDOT Agreement No. 360-13 

71



 

 

  Commission Work Session Agenda 
Memo  

 
From:  John Braun, Assistant Director of Public Works 
    
Work Session: December 5, 2013 
 
Subject: 41st Street Construction – Award of Bid and Construction 

Engineering Agreement 
 
Person(s)  Toby Dougherty, City Manager 
Responsible: I.D. Creech, Director of Public Works 
 
 

Summary 
Residents of Hays have long anticipated the reconstruction of 41st Street.  Since 2008, 
City Staff has been working with KDOT and engineering consultants on the design of the 
project.  Bids were recently opened at KDOT, and APAC-Kansas, Inc. of Hays is the low 
bidder.  In addition, KDOT has provided a three party agreement for Construction 
Engineering Inspection Services.  The agreement between the City, KDOT and Alfred 
Benesh & Company details the consultants scope of work and responsibilities as it relates 
to the Project.  KDOT administers the contract and makes the payments to the consultant.  
The City’s share for of both construction and inspection estimated to be $798,000.  
KDOT has asked for a resolution committing the City’s share of the funding in the 
amount of $798,000 and authority to award the bid to APAC.  The City’s share of the 
cost is funded from Capital Projects. 
 

Background  
Since 2008, City Staff has been working with KDOT on a project to reconstruct 41st 
Street from the US-183 By-pass to Hall Street.  The project is being funded in part 
through the Federal Highway Administration Surface Transportation Program.   
 
The project will reconstruct 41st Street from the US-183 By-pass to Hall Street.  The old 
roadway will be removed and replaced with three-lanes of 8” concrete pavement 
complete with curb and gutter on both sides, new storm sewer pipe and inlets, a 10’ wide 
concrete multi-use path along the north side, no sidewalk on the south side, and 
stormwater Best Management Practices improvements in two places.   
 
Staff will give a presentation at the December 5th work session showing various plan 
sheets and diagrams describing the project. 

72



 

 

Discussion 
KDOT opened bids in Topeka on November 13, 2013.  Two contactors submitted bids: 
 
Smoky Hill Construction, Salina $3,734,518.40 
 
APAC-Kansas, Inc., Hays  $2,939,483.20 
 
KDOT has submitted a letter asking for authorization to award the construction contract 
to the low bidder APAC, and pass a resolution committing the City’s share of funding for 
the project.  See attachments. 
 
The Resolution authorizing KDOT to award the contract and commitment of City funds 
needs to be executed and returned to KDOT by December 16, 2013.  The actual payment 
of the City’s share needs to be made by January 2, 2014. 
 
When awarded the bid, the contractor must begin by March 24, 2014, and they have 180 
working days for construction, which should result in project completion by the end of 
2014. 
 
KDOT will schedule and host an open house in February 2014, sometime prior to starting 
the construction.  At this meeting, City Leaders, property owners along the project, 
media, general public, and any other stake holders, will be invited to listen to a project 
overview, review the plans, and ask questions of the engineers and contractor. 
 
In addition, KDOT has provided a three party agreement for Construction Engineering 
Inspection Services for the reconstruction of 41st Street from US-183 By-pass to Hall 
Street.  The agreement between the City, KDOT and Alfred Benesch & Company details 
the consultants scope of work and responsibilities as it relates to the Project.  KDOT 
administers the contract and makes the payments to the consultant.  The City’s share for 
inspection is 20% of the $496,667.55 estimated inspection cost and is included in the 
$798,000 estimated City Share, which is detailed in Financial Considerations section of 
this memo. 
 

Legal Consideration 
There are no known legal obstacles to proceeding as recommended by City Staff. 
 

Financial Consideration 
The 2013 Budget included $1,885,000 for the City’s Share of the project as summarized 
below: 
 

  

City City City City 

City Total KDOT Total 

CC - FPP Special Stormwater Water/Sewer 

  Parks     

Design $235,000        $235,000    $235,000 

Land Acquisition $250,000        $250,000    $250,000 

Inspection  $104,000        $104,000  $416,000 $520,000 

73



 

 

Hike and Bike   $102,000     $102,000    $102,000 

Storm BMPs     $133,500   $133,500    $133,500 

H2O Adjustment       $50,000 $50,000    $50,000 
Eligible 
Construction $1,010,500        $1,010,500  $2,704,000 $3,714,500 
Total Project 
Cost $1,599,500  $102,000 $133,500 $50,000 $1,885,000  $3,120,000 $5,005,000 

 
See the attached Project Detail Sheet. 
 
Based on the actual bid and the information provided by KDOT, an updated summary of 
costs is shown below: 
 

  

City City City City 

City Total KDOT Total 

CC - FPP Special Stormwater Water/Sewer 

  Parks     

Design $240,317        $240,317    $240,317 

Land Acquisition $61,000        $61,000    $61,000 

Subtotal $301,317        $301,317    $301,317 

                

Inspection  $126,507        $126,507  $429,125 $555,632 

Hike and Bike   $71,252     $71,252    $71,252 

Storm BMPs     $35,543   $35,543    $35,543 

H2O Adjustment       $94,200 $94,200    $94,200 
Remaining 
Construction $470,252        $470,252  $2,276,951 $2,747,203 
Total Const + 
Insp $596,759  $71,252 $35,543 $94,200 $797,754  $2,706,076 $3,503,830 

        

Total Project $898,076.00  $71,252.00 $35,543.00 $94,200.00 $1,099,071.00  $2,706,076.00 $3,805,147.00 

 
To summarize, the City’s share of construction would come from the following sources: 
 
Financial Policy Projects -  $596,759 
Special Parks - $71,252 
Stormwater -  $35,543 
Water/Sewer -  $94,200 
TOTAL $797,754 
 
KDOT requires the City to pay the City’s share up front (before construction).  After 
construction, if there are any change orders or variations in cost, KDOT will audit the 
project and credit the City any overpayment, or bill the City any additional amount due. 
 
Since this is an upfront estimate of the City’s share, KDOT has rounded the City share up 
to $798,000. 
 

Options 
The Commission has the following options: 
 

74



 

 

Option 1: Direct the Mayor to sign the resolution from KDOT authorizing the 
commitment of City funds awarding a contract to APAC-Kansas, Inc, and to sign the 
three-party agreement with KDOT and Alfred Benesch & Company for Construction 
Engineering Inspection for the reconstruction of 41st Street.   
 
Option 2: Provide alternate direction to staff. 
 
Option 3: Do nothing 
 

Recommendation 
City staff recommends Option 1.  
  

Action Requested 
Consider directing the Mayor to sign the resolution from KDOT authorizing the 
commitment of City funds awarding a contract to APAC-Kansas, Inc for the 
reconstruction of 41st Street and to sign the three party agreement with KDOT and Alfred 
Benesch & Company for Construction Engineering Inspection for the reconstruction of 
41st Street.   
 
The City share to be paid to KDOT is $798,000 from the Capital Projects Fund. 
 

Supporting Documentation 
KDOT Authority to Award Letter 
KDOT Resolution 
KDOT Project Cost Summary Sheet 
2013 CIP Budget Project Data Sheet 
KDOT Agreement No. 360-13 
 

75



76



77



78



LOCATION & AREA MAP: 

PROJECT FORM 
 

 
PROJECT:   41

st
 Street – US-183 Alt to Hall Street 

 
FISCAL YEAR:  2013 
 
PROJECT NO:  2008-03 
 
FUND:    Commission Financial Policy Projects 
 
DEPARTMENT: Public Works  
 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION: Reconstruction of 41
st
 Street from 

the US-183 Alternate to Hall Street.  The project is currently in 
the design process, with right of way acquisition to start soon.  
The approved design is a concrete, 3-lane roadway with curb & gutter and 10’ wide multi-use (hike/bike) path running the 
full length of the project along the north side.  The design will also include some environmentally friendly improvements at 
the stormwater crossings at the far west end of the project and between Fillmore and Harrison draining onto the golf 
course. 
 
NEED, JUSTIFICATION, BENEFIT:  Improve 41

st
 Street to provide better safety for pedestrians and bicyclists utilizing 

41
st
 Street, improve the failing road way, and to better serve the traffic related to new developments in the northwest 

portion of the City.  
 
CONSEQUENCES OF DELAYING OR ELIMINATING THIS PROJECT:  The current roadway is in need of repairs; delay 
will cause additional maintenance and repair costs. In addition, the existing roadway is not very safe for pedestrians and 
bicyclists. 
 
THIS PROJECT IS RELATED TO THE FOLLOWING:   This is the next project on the City’s list for KDOT Surface 
Transportation Program (STP) projects, which is funded at 80% of eligible construction costs.  
 
EXPLANATION OF IMPACT ON OPERATING BUDGET:  The reconstruction of this roadway would reduce future 
operating budgets regarding street maintenance. 
 
TIME-LINE/CURRENT STATUS:  The project is currently under design.  The KDOT bid opening date is scheduled for 
October 2013 for construction in 2014.  
 
COMMENTS: 
$102,000 to oversize the 10’ multi-use path over the cost of a standard sidewalk is to be funded from Special Parks. 
$133,500 for stormwater quality improvements is to be funded from the Stormwater Utility. 
$50,000 for Waterline relocation is to be funded from the Water/Sewer Fund 
 

  
City 

CC - FPP 

City 
Special 
Parks 

City 
Stormwater 

City 
Water/Sewer City Total KDOT Total 

Design $235,000.00       $235,000.00   $235,000.00 

Land Acquisition $250,000.00       $250,000.00   $250,000.00 

Inspection  $104,000.00       $104,000.00 $416,000.00 $520,000.00 

Hike and Bike   $102,000.00     $102,000.00   $102,000.00 

Storm BMPs     $133,500.00   $133,500.00   $133,500.00 

H2O Adjustment       $50,000.00 $50,000.00   $50,000.00 

Eligible 
Construction $1,010,500.00       $1,010,500.00 $2,704,000.00 $3,714,500.00 

Total Project Cost $1,599,500.00 $102,000.00 $133,500.00 $50,000.00 $1,885,000.00 $3,120,000.00 $5,005,000.00 

 

79



 

IMPACT ON OPERATING BUDGET: FINANCING: 
Prior to 2013 $ Financial Policy Projects $1,599,500 
2013 $ Special Parks $102,000 
2014 $ Stormwater $133,500 
2015 $ Water/Sewer Fund $50,000 
2016 $ KDOT/Federal Grant Funds $3,120,000 
5-YEAR TOTAL: $ TOTAL $5,005,000 
    

 
FIVE-YEAR COST BREAKDOWN SCHEDULE:  (Financial Policy Projects Funding Only) 
 Prior to 2013 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 After 2017 Total 
Planning & Design $200,000 $35,000      $235,000 

Land  $250,000      $250,000 

Construction  $1,010,500      $1,010,500 

Inspection  $104,000      $104,000 

Total $200,000 $1,399,500      $1,599,500 

 
 

80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



 

112



CITY OF HAYS 
AGENDA ITEM COVER SHEET 

 
 

                      COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM NO. 8                MEETING DATE: 12-12-13 
 
 
 
TOPIC: 
 
2014 Statement of Legislative Priorities 
 
ACTION REQUESTED: 
 
Approve the 2014 Statement of Legislative Priorities in preparation for the upcoming 
Legislative Session. 
 
NARRATIVE: 
 
The 2014 Statement of Legislative Priorities contains what the City of Hays feels are the most 
pressing issues with regard to cities that the State Legislators will deal with in the upcoming 
session.   
 
PERSON/STAFF MEMBER(S) MAKING PRESENTATION: 
 
Toby Dougherty, City Manager 
 
ADMINISTRATION RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Approval 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION(S): 
 
None 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
2014 Statement of Legislative Priorities 
 
 
 
        

 
 
 
 

113



 

 

 
 
 
 

 
2014 

 
Statement of Legislative Priorities 

 
 
 

As approved by the Hays 
 

City Commission  
 

on 

_____________ 

114



 

 

2013 Statement of Legislative Priorities 
 

In order to communicate issues and goals with its elected legislators, the City of Hays 
hereby presents its 2014 Statement of Legislative Priorities.   
 
In summary, the 2014 legislative goals for the City of Hays are to improve water planning 
ability, preserve the current municipal funding framework, and maintain local 
determination on governance issues that are essential to Hays.  The 2013 agenda 
ensures that Hays remains a strong economic presence in Northwest Kansas while 
continuing to meet the needs of its citizens.  The following items identify the core areas 
of legislative importance to the City of Hays.  
 
Water Conservation and Planning 
 
Conservation and long-term source preservation are of critical importance to the City of 
Hays.  We support and encourage laws and regulations that allow all cities to become 
better stewards of their water sources.  This includes reuse of existing water as well as 
recharging aquifers with locally captured stormwater runoff.   
 
We feel the current 20 year planning horizon is too short given the significant 
infrastructure investment required to develop a new water source.  We support laws and 
regulations that allow for adequate long-term planning for water needs, and oppose laws 
and regulations that force communities to wait until emergency conditions develop 
before reacting.   
 
Regulation of Local Water Supplies 
 
In circumstances where the State of Kansas chooses not to regulate or provide 
oversight, we support giving all cities the ability to regulate and monitor their local water 
supplies, and the actions that impact those sources.  This will allow cities to protect 
valuable local sources from contamination and depletion. 
  
Water Quantity and Quality 
 
State laws and administrative procedures should provide for the vigorous protection of 
current and future municipal water supplies from contamination and encroachment.   
 
Fair Fares Funding 
 
In 2006 the Fair Fares program was created with the statutory objective of providing 
“more air flight options, more competition for air travel, and more affordable air fares for 
Kansas, including a regional airport in Western Kansas”.  From 2006 through 2013 the 
Fair Fares program was administrated by REAP (Regional Economic Area Partnership).  
The distribution process was competitive.  In 2013 the Kansas Legislature moved Fair 
Fares administration to the Department of Commerce and required the funds be 
distributed in a non-competitive manner.   
 
We feel that all airports in Western Kansas should have competitive access to the Fair 
Fares program and encourage the Legislature to remove non-competitive restrictions.  
 
 

115



 

 

  
 
Alcoholic Liquor/Motor Fuel Taxes 
 
We support the current statutory framework with regard to the collection and distribution 
of locally collected alcoholic liquor and motor fuel taxes.  These taxes are collected 
locally and redistributed with very specific restrictions on usage.  They should not be 
used to support the State’s General Fund.   
 
Sales Tax Exemptions 
 
Given the current and future budget challenges facing both state and local governments, 
we oppose the continued erosion of the state and local sales tax base with added 
exemptions.  If it is the State’s intent to provide exemptions it should be in the form of a 
state rebate so as not to unduly burden local taxing entities.  The Legislature should 
actively review existing exemptions in order to determine whether the exemptions are 
still appropriate. 
 
Personal Property Tax Exemptions 
 
We are opposed to any further state mandated property tax exemptions as this practice 
shifts the tax burden from one tax payer to another.  The State of Kansas receives less 
than ½ of one percent of its revenue from property taxes.  If it is the State’s intent to 
provide tax exemptions it should be in the form of a state rebate so as not to unduly 
burden local taxing entities who rely heavily on property taxes.  
 
Revenue Sharing 
 
As required by State Statutes, the State Legislature should reinstate the City-County 
Revenue Sharing program and the Local Ad Valorem Tax Reduction program, and 
should maintain complete funding for the Special City-County Highway Fund.  The State 
should fund all revenue sharing funds at the existing statutorily-required levels. 
 
TABOR 
 
We oppose the application of a Taxpayer Bill of Rights (TABOR) as an erosion of 
representative democracy which, over time, will erode local determination and 
jeopardize the ability of cities to make prudent financial decisions. 
 
Unfunded Mandates 
 
We oppose unfunded mandates.  If the state or federal governments seek to promote 
specific policy objectives, such mandates should be accompanied by an appropriate 
level of funding 
 
Stormwater Management 
 
We encourage KDHE to work with cities and provide technical support in the 
implementation of reasonable regulations related to stormwater management.  We 
endorse cooperative solutions to stormwater quality and quantity challenges.  We 
oppose regulations that place excessive financial burdens on local governments.     

116



 

 

 
 
Public Property and Rights-of-Way 
 
We oppose any legislation that restricts the ability of cities to control public property and 
rights-of-way or the ability of cities to franchise those entities that utilize the rights-of-
way.  We encourage the Kansas Legislature to protect the ability of cities to manage 
their rights-of-way and impose franchise fees regarding telecommunication, cable, and 
utility services.   
 
PEERA/Collective Bargaining 
 
We support the current statutory process in the Public Employer-Employees Relations 
Act.  We oppose any federal or state mandate which would require collective bargaining 
at the local level. 
 
  

117



 

118



CITY OF HAYS 
AGENDA ITEM COVER SHEET 

 
 

              COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM NO. 9               MEETING DATE: 12-12-13 
 
 
 
TOPIC: 
 
Addendum to the Memorandum of Agreement with the Hays Firefighters Local 2119 for 2014 
 
ACTION REQUESTED: 
 
Authorize the Mayor, City Manager, and Fire Chief to sign the 2014 Addendum to the 2013 
thru 2015 Hays Firefighters Local 2119 Memorandum of Agreement. 
 
NARRATIVE: 
 
The Hays Firefighters Local 2119 contract contains annual openers for Section 10, Health 
Insurance, if conditions are met, and Section 15, Wages and Administration of the Pay Plan.  
The City of Hays and the Hays Firefighters Local 2119 have an agreement for fiscal year 
2014, Wages and Administration of the Pay Plan.  The agreement states the City will provide 
members of the Hays Firefighters Local 2119 with a 1% merit increase starting the first 
payroll in 2014, and the City will continue the current pay ranges.   
 
PERSON/STAFF MEMBER(S) MAKING PRESENTATION: 
 
Toby Dougherty, City Manager  
Paul Briseno, Assistant City Manager 
 
ADMINISTRATION RECOMMENDATION: 
 
City staff recommends that the City Commission approve the Addendum to the contract for 
2014 with the Hays Firefighters Local 2119. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION(S): 
 
N/A 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Staff Memo 
Addendum to Agreement between the City of Hays and the Hays Firefighters Local 2119 
 
 

119



  Commission Work Session Agenda 
Memo  

 
From:  Paul Briseno, Assistant City Manager 
 
Meeting:  December 12, 2013 
 
Subject: Addendum to the IAFF Local 2119 Union Contract 
 
Person(s)  Paul Briseno, Assistant City Manager 
Responsible: Toby Dougherty, City Manager 
 

Summary 
The City of Hays and the IAFF Local 2119 have an agreement for fiscal year 2014 
Wages, and Administration of the Pay Plan.  The agreement states the City will provide 
members of the IAFF bargaining unit with a 1% Merit increase with the first payroll in 
2014 and the City will continue the current pay ranges.   
 

Background  
The IAFF contract contains annual openers for Section 10 Health Insurance, if conditions 
are met, and Section 15 Wages and Administration of the Pay Plan.   

   

Discussion 
The City and IAFF began the meet and confer process in April of 2013 to discuss the 
openers for the 2014 contract.  Five meetings were held including mediation.  Both 
parties tentatively agree to the attached proposal.  

 

Legal Consideration 
There are no known legal obstacles to proceeding as recommended by City Staff. 
 

Financial Consideration 
The City of Hays budget contains a 1% merit increase with the first payroll in 2014 and 
the City will continue the current pay ranges. 
 

Options 
The City Commission has the following options; 

1.   Adopt the agreement between the City of Hays and the IAFF, International  
      Association of Firefighters Union, Local 2119. 
2. Reject the agreement between the City of Hays and the IAFF,   

International Association of Firefighters Union, Local 2119 and give staff 
further direction 

3. Take no action 

120



 

Recommendation 
Staff recommends the agreed upon language for the 2014 addendum between the City of 
Hays and IAFF, International Association of Firefighters Union, Local 2119. 
 

Action Requested 
Staff requests that the Hays City Commission authorize the Mayor, City Manager, and 
Fire Chief to sign the 2014 Addendum to the 2013 thru 2015 Union Contract. 

 
Supporting Documentation 

Addendum to Agreement between the City of Hays and IAFF, International Association 
of Firefighters Union, Local 2119. 
 

 

121



ADDENDUM TO AGREEMENT 
 

BETWEEN 
 

CITY OF HAYS 
AND 

FIREFIGHTERS LOCAL 2119 
 

 
 This addendum to agreement executed on this 12th day of December, 2013, 
between the City of Hays, Kansas, hereinafter referred to as the “City”, and Firefighters 
Local 2119, hereinafter referred to as the “IAFF”, is intended to be attached to and 
made a part of the existing Memorandum of Agreement between the City and the IAFF 
that expires December 31, 2015.  This addendum is in effect from January 1, 2014 
through December 31, 2014.  All portions of this agreement are incorporated therein by 
reference unless specifically altered or changed by the provisions of this Addendum.   
 
 Section15. WAGES / ADMINISTRATION OF THE PAY PLAN 
For fiscal year 2014 the City will make the following adjustments: the City will provide 
members of the IAFF bargaining unit with a 1% Merit increase with the first payroll in 
2014 and the City will continue the current pay ranges. 
 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City and the IAFF have hereunto set their hand 

this 12th day of December, 2013. 

 
 
FOR THE IAFF     FOR THE CITY 
 
_____________________________  ______________________________ 
President        Mayor 
 
 
_____________________________  ______________________________ 
Vice-President     City Manager 
 
 
_____________________________  ______________________________ 
Secretary-Treasurer     Fire Chief 

122



  

COMMISSION INFORMATIONAL MEMORANDUM 
TO: City Commission 

FROM: Toby Dougherty, CPM 
 City Manager  

 

DATE: December 6, 2013 

 
 

Attached are the following items: 
  

1. The minutes of the October 23, 2013 meeting of the Hays Recreation Commission Board. 
 

2. The minutes of the October 28, 2013 meeting of the Hays Housing Authority Board. 
 

3. The minutes of the November 4, 2013 meeting of the Airport Advisory Committee. 
 

4. The Great Lakes On-Time Report for November 2013. 
 
If you have any questions regarding this information, please do not hesitate to contact me. 
 
ab 

City of Hays 
Office of the City Manager 

123



 

124



HAYS RECREATION COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

October 23, 2013 
 

Chair called the meeting to order at 12:02pm. 
Roll Call   
Vice-Chair  Lynn Maska 
Secretary  Mark Junk 
Commissioner  Nancy Jeter 
Commissioner Clint Albers 
Superintendent Roger Bixenman 
 
Chair   Jeff Briggs-absent 
 
Approval of Agenda 
Motion by Mark Junk to approve the agenda.  Second by Clint Albers.  Motion carried 4-
0. 
 
Approval of Minutes 
Motion by Nancy Jeter to approve the minutes of the regular meeting for September 25, 
2013.  Second by Mark Junk.  Motion carried 4-0. 
 
Audience Participation 
Melissa Romme-ABB&B discussed with the board the financials year to date.  
 
Written Communication 
Thank you letters were shared with the board.   
 
Finances 
Financial Statement 
Motion by Nancy Jeter to approve the financial statement for September 2013.  Second 
by Mark Junk.  Motion carried 4-0.    
 
 Staff Reports 
Sports Director 
Information was shared with the board concerning sports. 
Program Director 
Information concerning all programming was shared with the board.  
Aquatics Director 
Information was shared with the board concerning aquatics. 
Wellness Director 
Information was shared with the board concerning wellness. 
Sports Complex Director 
Information was shared with the board concerning the sports complex.    
 
 

125



 
Superintendent 
Discussion was held concerning out of town teams participation in HRC leagues.  Also, 
discussed were Wave Transportation participation numbers and cost and update on 
maintenance building construction at the Bickle/Schmidt Sports Complex.   
 
Unfinished Business 
No Unfinished Business 
 
 
New Business 
Foundation Board Meeting 
Motion by Mark Junk to close the Regular HRC Board meeting.  Second by Nancy Jeter 
motion carried 4-0.   
 
Motion by Mark Junk to open the HRC Foundation Board meeting.  Second by Nancy 
Jeter motion carried 4-0.   
 
Motion by Nancy Jeter to close the HRC Foundation Board meeting.  Second by Mark 
Junk motion carried 4-0.   
 
Motion by Mark Junk to open the Regular HRC Board Meeting .  Second by Clint Albers 
motion carried 4-0.   
 
  
Board Member Reports 
None 
 
 
Other Action 
None 
 
Executive Session  
None 
   
 
Adjournment 
Motion by Nancy Jeter to adjourn the meeting.  Second by Clint Albers.  Motion carried 
4-0.   
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
Roger Bixenman CPRP 
Superintendent 
 

126



127



128



Airport Advisory Committee Meeting 
November 4, 2013 
 
Members Present: 
Bob Johnson 
Errol Wuertz 
Mike Konz 
Gary Wentling 
I. D. Creech 
Chris Springer 
John Braun 
Dan Stecklein 
Lyle Noordhoek - late 
Don Benjamin Absent but excused 
 
1.) Call to Order 
 
2.) Approval of October 7, 2013 Meeting Minutes 
Need to make a change in the minutes - Errol Wuertz was absent from the October 7th 
meeting but he was excused. 
 
3.) Discuss Boarding Report 
Down 301 passengers from last year this time. 
 
4.) Discuss Runway 16-34 Construction - Update 
On schedule for completion in mid November. Concrete work completed. Working on 
painting and electrical. 
 
5.) Discuss Ribbon Cutting Ceremony for Runway 16-34 
There will be a ribbon cutting ceremony November 18th at 3:00 P.M. 
 
6.) Discuss Terminal Expansion Update 
The TSA would like more workspace. The plan is still flexible at this time so changes 
can be made. We are still making room for the FAA but they may not decide to move 
here. 
 
7.) Discuss EAS Funding Update 
Contract bids have gone out. Bids are due back by December 2nd. The bids have to go 
through the department of transportation for approval. 
 
8.) Discuss Mill Levy by .5 mills update 
Action has been delayed on this item till January 2nd. Even if approved, the airport will 
not see any money from this action till January 2015. The airport needs to show why 
increased funding is needed. 

129



 
9.) Discuss City Owned Hangars 
Depending on whether the action would be favorable for the future plans of the Hays 
airport, the City would be willing to offer it’s remaining hangars for sale.   
 
10.) Discuss Airport Promotion 
The FAA has a fund to help promote airports. Hays has used funds from this source in 
the past but we may not be able to secure this funding again since it is not available to 
airports with over 10,000 boardings per year.   
 
11.) Add-On items 
Mike Konz is organizing an informal group that could be considered a pilots and hangar 
owners association for the Hays airport. It is intended to keep local airport users 
informed of what is going on at the airport and help users connect with the airport 
better. 
 
John Braun will send out email to members to solicit volunteers to help pick engineering 
services to do the repair work required on runway 4/22. 
 
12.) Next Meeting December 2, 2013 at 6:30 PM. 
 
13.) Adjourn 
 
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
Errol Wuertz 

130



Great Lakes Airlines On-Time Report

 
 

Nov-13 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30

Under 
15 Min   

On-Time

15-44 
Min 
Late

45-74 
Min 
Late

75 -104 
Min 
Late

105 
Min 
Late 
or 

more Canceled

Mon-Fri
630 C C x L C x C C L x x C x C C C C C C C C 24% 10% 67%
645 C C x L C x C C L x x C x C C C C C C C C 24% 10% 67%

1016 x x C C x x C L x x x C x C C C L x L C C 43% 5% 10% 43%
1026 x x C C x L C L x x L C x C C C L x L C C 33% 14% 10% 43%
1311 x x L C x C C x x x x C L x L C C x L x x 52% 10% 5% 5% 29%
1321 x x L C x C C x x x x C L x L C C x L x x 52% 10% 5% 5% 29%
1425 x x L L x C C x x x x x L x C x C x L x x 62% 5% 5% 5% 5% 19%
1435 x x L L x C C x x x x x L x C L C L L x x 52% 14% 5% 5% 5% 19%
1626 x x C L x L C L x C C L x x C x L x x C L 43% 19% 5% 5% 29%
1636 x x C L x L C L x C C L x x C x L x x C L 43% 10% 14% 5% 29%
2156 x L x C x L C L x x x x C C C L C x C C C 38% 10% 5% 5% 43%
2206 x L x C x L C L x x x x C C C C C x C C C 38% 10% 5% 48%

Saturday
715 x x x C 75% 25%
725 x x x x 100%

1250 C C C C 100%
1300 C C C C 100%
1406 x x x L 75% 25%
1416 x x x L 75% 25%
1931 x C x x 75% 25%
1941 x C x x 75% 25%

Sunday
845 x C x x C 60% 40%
855 x C x x C 60% 40%

1250 x C C L x 40% 20% 40%
1300 x C C x x 60% 40%
1626 C x C L L 20% 20% 20% 40%
1636 C x C L L 20% 20% 20% 40%
2156 C C C C x 20% 80%
2206 C C C C x 20% 80%

Average 43% 9% 3% 2% 3% 40%
No time logged =na
Late=L Total Flights - 324 140 28 9 8 11 128
On Time=x
Canceled=C Percentage of flights delayed or canceled 57%

On time means </= 15 minutes

131


	12-12-13 City Commission Meeting Agenda
	11-25-13 City Commission Meeting Minutes
	Cereal Malt Beverage License Applications - 2014
	Mayoral Appointment Recommendations - Sister Cities Advisory Board
	HRC Pool Reimbursement for 2013
	Concealed Carry Update
	41st Street Construction - Award of Bid and Construction Engineering Agreement
	2014 Statement of Legislative Priorities
	Addendum to the Memorandum of Agreement with the Hays Firefighters Local 2119 for 2014
	Commission Informational Memorandum
	HRC Board Meeting Minutes - 10-23-13
	10-28-13 Hays Housing Authority Board Meeting Minutes
	11-4-13 Airport Advisory Committee Meeting Minutes
	Great Lakes Airlines On-Time Report



